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Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of China Limited
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Ernst & Young
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Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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As to Hong Kong law:
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As to the People’s Republic of China’s law:

Beijing Bairui (Shenzhen) Law Firm

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited:
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The above corporate information is up to 26 March 2025.
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EVENT DATE

Announcement of interim results

28 August 2024

Calendar
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Announcement of annual results

26 March 2025
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Despatch of annual report to 24 April 2025 A B% 5k 3% 4 ¥R —E-AFNA=—+A
shareholders

Closure of register of members for 2 June 2025 to TiEmERNBRE | ZE-AF NAZHZ
ascertaining shareholders’ right to 6 June 2025 BRAEERR —FE-—RFENANA
attend and vote at annual general (both days e R A F (BFEEEMA)
meeting inclusive) AEWEE L

) #E A

Annual general meeting 6 June 2025 RERBEFRE ZE-AFNANA

Closure of register of members for 20 June 2025 TEmERNBRE | ZE-AFANAZ1H
ascertaining shareholders’ BERAERRR
entitlement to the proposed final BEEERERK
dividend EH R

Final dividend at HK1.00 cent per 25 July 2025 RBERBREGR | —FE-aF+A=-1aH
share payable 1.007%5 1l
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

In the context of high global inflation and an unstable economic
recovery, the consumer market in mainland China and Hong Kong
While basic
consumption shows resilience, the demand for mid- to high-end

is undergoing structural changes. livelihood
dining is significantly affected by the slowdown in disposable
income growth and insufficient consumer confidence. In response
to multiple pressures from market volatility, a cautious
consumption atmosphere, and an undergoing overall pressure of
the food and beverage industry, the Group has prudently adjusted
its strategies this year. This includes precise marketing paired with
online exposure and strengthening customer loyalty, achieving
annual revenue of RMB1,021.1 million. Additionally, through the
collective efforts of the Group, the gross profit margin has just
decreased slightly to 66.1%, maintaining the bottom line for

profitability.

In recent years, the food and beverage market has been evolving
rapidly, especially in mainland China. Customers are leaning more
towards experience-based consumption, transitioning from purely
paying for product quality to valuing emotional appeal. Dining is no
longer just about traditional services; it now requires the
integration of culture, social interaction, and a sense of ritual to
build uniqgue competitive advantages. Based on these trends, we

are focusing on three core strategies in 2024.

1. SCENE DESIGN INNOVATION: FROM
SERVICE PROVIDER TO LIFESTYLE
PLANNER

o Holiday Economy: Create marketing that is

“memorable” to boost customers’ year-round

consumption desire. Elevate marketing attention
around traditional holidays (e.g. CNY Festival, National
(e.g. birthday

wedding

Day etc.) and emotional scenarios

banquets, longevity celebrations,
anniversaries etc.). Through add-on services such as
banquet scene decorations, customized ceremonies,
complementary souvenirs, and combined with
commemorative meal packages, these help stimulating

dine-in sales.

[
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Chairman’s Statement
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2.

3.

Cross-Industry Experiences: Periodically launch
lifestyle-themed “salon” activities that combine arts and
dining (e.g. floral arrangement classes, tea
appreciation workshops, tasting events), giving
customers an enhanced experience beyond regular
dining. Additionally, addressing the high demand for
family-oriented activities, collaborate with travel and
lifestyle platforms to introduce “child friendly dim sum
cooking classes,” exploring further opportunities for
value-added services.

MANAGE EXPOSURE: HIGH EXPOSURE TO
DRIVE ONLINE CUSTOMERS

Precision in Public Domain Customer Acquisition:
Collaborate with professional teams to systematically
plan promotional content and live streams on trending
platforms such as Douyin (£}&) and Dianping (K 2
#F), increasing number of browse and engagement
with official accounts. This boosts sales of online
packages and products. This year, by introducing
origin-tracing live streams, we added a sense of
novelty and strengthened customer confidence in our
products.

Customization of Online Delivery Services: Enhance
the appeal of delivery products tailored to customers’
dining scenarios and brand strengths. At the same
time, optimize operational efficiency to highlight
differentiation, achieving over one million transactions.

OPTIMIZING MEMBER EXPERIENCE:
BOOSTING MEMBER REPURCHASE RATES

Diversified Membership Channels to Expand the
Membership Base: Integrate the membership system
with public domain platforms to increase member
recruitment, enhance sign-up convenience, and enrich
member benefits.
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° Flexible Member Benefits to Boost Repurchases:

Deliver personalized rewards, such as birthday
discounts and top-up gifts, to increase member loyalty
and repurchase rates.

Despite facing numerous challenges in this year, we have

continued to strengthen our competitive edge and actively deploy

development strategies. In 2025, we will launch a new store

expansion plan, and have been searching for prime locations. A

new business model is also in the works, aimed at enhancing the

Group’s digital

strengthening our supply chain advantage — this will be the new

and intelligent management capabilities while
challenge for the Group. Additionally, our external expansion
strategy is progressing steadily. For instance, our first high-end
Beijing-style hotpot restaurant in Hong Kong, run under a joint
venture model, has achieved favorable results. A second branch is
expected to open in 2025 district.
Meanwhile, we are exploring with

in a key commercial
international opportunities,
Singapore identified as the first possible location.
Looking ahead to 2025, despite uncertainties in economic
recovery, we believe that adopting a strategy of “stability without
conservatism and progressiveness without recklessness” will help
us continue discovering new business opportunities. We will
persist with innovation, constant self-improvement, and a global
perspective to capture opportunities and drive sustainable
development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board,
gratitude to the management and staff of the Group for their

| would like to express my sincere

contribution during the Year. | hope to extend my special thanks
to all the staff for their dedication to our goal of creating a happy
enterprise together. | would also like to express my sincere
appreciation to all the support from our suppliers, business
partners and government authorities as well as the trust from our

customers and shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

O B W B o3 B

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2024, mainland China’s economy achieved an annual growth
rate of 5%, aligning with overall official expectations. Driven by the
national encouragement of new productive forces, especially for
industries with high technology manufacturers and electric
vehicles, progress was made for industrial upgrades, and exports
also increased compared to the previous year. However, the
overall consumption remained weak due to uncertain market
expectations for economic prospects and a continuing downturn
in the real estate market. The Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the
entire year only rose slightly by 0.2%. However, due to insufficient
consumer confidence, the recovery in the consumption market did
not materialize quickly. The total retail sales of consumer goods
nationwide grew by 3.5% for the entire year, a significant decline
compared to the 5.5% at the beginning of the year and 7.2% for
the entire year of 2023. The catering industry was particularly
hard hit by the downgrade in consumer spending, with national
catering revenue growth declining from double-digit increases in
January 2024 and February 2024 to an average of 5.3% for the
entire year. Meanwhile, after showing signs of improvement in the
first quarter, Hong Kong’s economy retreated due to increasing
external uncertainties, with an annual GDP growth of 2.5%.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the economies of mainland China and Hong Kong
continue to face multiple challenges. In the first half of the year,
natural disasters in various regions of China, the ongoing funding
crisis in real estate, and global political instability have led to slow
economic recovery and weak overall consumption. After the Lunar
New Year holiday in 2024, the consumer market has noticeably
declined, and expectations regarding increased export tariffs from
China have contributed to a decline in consumption. On the other
hand, since 2023, a trend of outbound travel and changing
consumption patterns of visitors to Hong Kong, led to a

significant downturn in Hong Kong’s consumer market.
Consequently, the number of customers and per capita spending
in the Group’s restaurants in both mainland China and Hong
Kong have been greatly affected. In response to the challenging
economic environment and low consumer sentiment, the Group’s
business strategy for the year focused on enhancing marketing
promotions to stabilize operations and customer flow, as well as
strengthening online publicity. Despite the impact of various
external conditions, the Group has consistently launched multi-
faceted and multi-channel promotional activities. As a result, the
overall revenue reached RMB1,021.1 million for the year ended 31
2024 (the “Year”) (2023: RMB1,122.9 million).

Furthermore, despite significant pressures on operating costs, the

December

Group has managed to stabilize its cost structure through lean
management, and thus gross profit margin decreased slightly to
66.1% for the Year (2023: 66.3%).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

O B W B o3 B

Thematic marketing creates proactive consumption

In recent years, the Group’s business in mainland China has
primarily focused on holiday and commemorative themes. With
government policies encouraging domestic or local tourism,
various local governments have implemented strategies to develop
tourist cities by enhancing or optimizing public facilities to create
convenient travel conditions. As a result, traditional major holidays
such as the Lunar New Year and National Day have strong
consumption atmospheres that help boost dining consumption.
The Group has therefore strengthened its promotional activities
throughout the Year centered around holidays, encouraging
proactive customer spending. This included introducing more
holiday-themed products and set menus, especially during the
second half of the Year which were filled with different festivals,
with a focus on “value for money” as the goal. In addition to
traditional holidays like Mother’s Day, Father’s Day, and Dragon
special
commemorative celebrations such as birthdays, Senior’s birthday

Boat Festival, attention was also given to other
banquet, Teacher’s Day and wedding anniversary, ensuring that
themed activities occurred every month. On the other hand, apart
from set menus, the Group enhanced its service by offering free
decorations, host, ceremonial atmosphere and complementary
souvenirs etc. Holiday-themed activities not only helped in
stabilizing the Group’s revenue but also helped to maintain
customer loyalty and stabilize foot traffic. In Hong Kong, the
Group partnered with a popular travel platform KKday this year to
launch child friendly dim sum cooking classes, which received an
enthusiastic response. Moving forward, further promotion on
similar customer interactive events will be explored.

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) ZERBER L
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Online promotion maintains exposure

In the first half of 2024, the Group revamped its online promotion
strategy. In the past, regions took the lead in collaborating with
different platforms based on their needs. This approach has now
been replaced by unified planning across the Group. Leveraging
the Group’s supply chain advantages, “value for money” bulk
purchase packages have been introduced online. By collaborating
with professional

media agencies, the Group continuously

optimized its online promotion strategies. For instance,
promotional buzz was enhanced through influencer store visit
videos and regular live streaming, which boosted online product
sales. Moreover, the Group has improved brand image and page
page designs. Additionally,

activities such as “bookmark and check-in” rewards and exclusive

traffic through optimizing official

cash voucher promotions have been launched on various
platforms to boost exposure. On the other hand, outdoor
live-streaming activities have been planned on private domain
platforms. For the first time, outdoor live sales were conducted at
products. This

innovative promotional model brought a sense of freshness to

the original production site of fruit souvenir
customers and effectively attracted more customer Vvisits and
ongoing attention to official updates, achieving notable results. In
addition to using online platforms to attract more dine-in
customers, the Group has also expanded its delivery business
through professional online platforms. By optimizing products to
match consumption scenarios, introducing exclusive products for
delivery sales, and continuously improving operational efficiency to
enhance customer experience, the Group achieved a milestone of
surpassing 1 million online delivery transactions in 2024.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

O B W B o3 B

Membership optimization to strengthen the customer
base

Both mainland China and Hong Kong managed their own
The Group focused on
repeat
purchases as the top strategy in 2024. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had a total of over 1.5 million members across both
regions and consistently introduced various special membership

independent membership systems.

maintaining member engagement and encouraging

offers to strengthen the customer base. In mainland China, the
emphasis was on regularly launching themed exclusive offers for
members and recharge bonus activities to boost loyalty and
repeated sales, such as birthday, membership upgrade, and
holiday giveaways. At the same time, the integration of the private
domain membership system with public online platforms has been
completed, allowing customers to directly register as members
through platforms like Dianping and Douyin (TikTok). Members can
also enjoy exclusive benefits, significantly expanding membership
registration channels and greatly improving the membership
experience. In Hong Kong, the focus is on regularly updating the
points redemption,

proactively offering birthday discounts and member appreciation

food options available for as well as

events to attract customers to the stores.

Joint Venture Businesses

The brands developed under joint venture experienced stable
business in 2024. In the first quarter of 2024, a hot pot restaurant
opened in Hong Kong, collaborating with a well-known Beijing-
style dining group in mainland China, achieved strong revenue.
The Group believes there is potential for expansion and is actively
preparing to open a second store in Hong Kong. Additionally, it
plans to collaborate with a Singaporean dining group to explore
opportunities for opening its first overseas branch in Singapore,
aiming to further expand the brand influence and market

coverage.
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PROSPECT

Facing economic uncertainties in 2025, the Group recognizes the
need to improve operational efficiency, with digitalization playing
an essential role in the enhancement. Currently, it is actively
preparing to further personalize and refine systems for
reservations, ordering, delivery, and membership from the front
lines, as well as optimizing management through operational
reports and leveraging big data combined with  artificial
intelligence (Al) technology to drive innovative management. In
2024, the Group reviewed and adjusted its business expansion
efforts. In 2025, it will resume store opening plans and launch
new business units with innovative models. At the same time, the
Group maintains a cautiously optimistic attitude towards the
anticipated economic risks in 2025, adopting a consistent prudent
approach to manage costs and continuously enhancing
operational efficiency. This will ensure healthy and stable future
development for the Group while providing solid conditions for
business expansion.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

As at 31 December 2024,

restaurants and 17 other restaurants under joint ventures. The
table below illustrates the number of restaurants by major brands,
together with the average spending per customer and percentage

of revenue to the Group:

the Group was operating 32

Bt % 15 R

RINNEBE MM

RZE-_NE+-A=+—H0 AEEKE
RREE SUEEFTALEEITRERE T
EEHE  ERBEEAY
BBREAEERZE DL

No. of restaurants
as at 31 December

Average spending
per customer
as at 31 December

Percentage of
revenue contributed
to the Group
as at 31 December

R+=ZA=+—-HB2 R+=ZA=+—-HB2 R+=A=+—8
2EHA REALHEE EEREERZBE AL

Brand i 8 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRCIME —To-F ZBWE ~—T--=-F ZF-QNE ~—FT_=F

RMB RMB

AR¥E ARE
Tang’s Cuisine EEER 1 2 421.2 471.6 2.7% 3.8%
Tang Palace* &= 25 26 229.6 253.7 82.9% 79.3%
Social Place EENE 5 5 195.8 182.1 12.1% 13.1%
Canton Tea Room BEERE = 1 111.1 115.7 0.3% 1.8%
Soup Delice E=%m 1 1 89.9 90.7 1.3% 1.3%

* including Tang Palace Seafood Restaurant, Tang Palace and Tang * PREEESSHY ESRkEEME

Palace He Yuan

As mentioned above, the Group’s overall revenue for the Year
decreased by 9.1% to approximately RMB1,021.1 million, and the
overall gross profit margin decreased slightly to 66.1% (2023:
66.3%).

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) ZERBER L

M EXFTi  AREBERAFE 2 BB WG
THII%EHNARKE1,0211H5ETL BEE
Bl R E BT R EBAB(Z T = =
66.3% ) °



During the Year, the Group’s share award scheme expense
calculated at market price amounted to approximately RMB1.4
million (2023: approximately RMBO0.5 million). By excluding this
expense item, the Group’s percentage of revenue on staff costs
was 41.3% (2023: 38.9%). In addition, percentage of revenue on
depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment was 2.9%
(20283: 3.0%) and utility and consumables expenses was 5.1%
(2023: 5.0%).
depreciation of right-of-use assets and finance costs according to
HKFRS 16. During the Year,

depreciation of right-of-use assets was 5.1%

Rental and related expenses were categorised as
percentage of revenue on
(2023: 4.7%),
percentage of revenue on finance costs was 1.0% (2023: 1.0%)
and percentage of revenue on rental and related expenses was
3.1% (2023: 3.0%).

During the Year, income tax expense was approximately RMB7.4
(2023: approximately RMB6.0 million),
withholding tax on dividend income of approximately RMB1.8
million (2023: approximately RMB1.6 million) and deferred tax
expense of approximately RMB2.3 million (2023: deferred tax

million which included

credit of approximately RMB1.4 million). During the Year, provision
of impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and right-
(20283:
approximately RMB3.3 million) was recognized as a result of
restaurants based on

of-use assets of approximately RMB6.8 million

continuous loss making impairment

assessment performed by management in accordance with
prudent and appropriate accounting principles. The Group
recognized fair value loss of a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately RMB5.5 million based on the
valuation report prepared by an independent external valuer for
the Year (2023: gain of approximately RMB2.1 million). As a result
of the foregoing, there was a turnaround from profit to loss for the
Year. The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
(2023: profit

attributable to owners of the Company amounted to

amounted to approximately RMB18.9 million

approximately RMB41.7 million).
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Cash flow

Cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately RMB6.9
million from approximately RMB321.4 million as at 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB328.3 million as at 31 December
2024. Net cash of approximately RMB110.1 million was generated
from operating activities during the Year. Net cash used in
investing activities amounted to approximately RMB33.8 million
during the Year, mainly due to the purchase of property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB35.2 million and advance of
a loan/capital injection to joint ventures of approximately RMB2.9
million,

offset by interest received of approximately RMB4.3

million. Net cash used in financing activities amounted to

approximately RMB70.5 million for the Year.
Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s funding and treasury activities are managed and
controlled by the senior management. The Group maintained cash
and cash equivalents, in aggregate, of approximately RMB328.3
million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
approximately RMB321.4 million). As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total assets, net current assets and net assets were
(31 2023:
approximately RMB805.7 million), approximately RMB23.0 million
(31 2023:
approximately RMB205.2 million

approximately RMB760.4 million December

December approximately RMB2.1
(31

approximately RMB241.0 million), respectively.

million) and

December 2023:

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings (31
December 2023: Nil).
borrowings divided by total equity) was nil as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).

The gearing ratio (calculated as bank
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As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio (calculated as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.1 (31 December 2023:
1.0).

The directors are of the opinion that the Group has sufficient
working capital for the Group’s operations and expansion in the
near future.

Foreign Currency Exposure
The business operations of the Group’s subsidiaries were

in the Mainland China with
expenses of the Group’s subsidiaries denominated mainly in RMB.

conducted mainly revenue and
The Group’s cash and bank deposits were denominated mainly in
RMB, with some denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Any
significant exchange rate fluctuations of Hong Kong dollars
against RMB as the functional currency may have a financial

impact to the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors considered the Group’s
foreign exchange risk to be insignificant. During the Year, the
hedging

Group did not use any financial instruments for

purposes.

OTHER INFORMATION

Number and Remuneration of Employees

As at 31 2024, the Group had around 2,600
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC (31 December 2023:

December

around 3,000). Remuneration is maintained at competitive levels
with discretionary bonuses payable on a merit basis, which is in
line with industry practice. Other staff benefits provided by the
Group include mandatory provident fund, insurance schemes,
share awards and performance related bonus.
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Capital Commitment

The Group’s capital commitment was approximately RMBO0.5
million and RMB5.9 million as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, respectively.

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had neither a banking facility
nor pledge of assets (31 December 2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Company.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of
the Company

During the Year, the trustee of the share award scheme of the
Company (adopted on 1 April 2021), pursuant to the terms of the
trust deed of the aforesaid scheme, purchased on the Stock
Exchange a total of 5,000,000 Shares with a total consideration of
approximately RMB1.8 million equivalent.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased,
Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares)
during the Year. As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not
hold any treasury shares.

sold or redeemed any of the
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

HPELRBBAEHNREE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. WENG Peihe, aged 54, has been appointed as an executive
director of the Company since 25 March 2011 and is currently the
chairman of the Group. Ms. Weng has been the chief executive
officer of the Group since March 2000 until her appointment as
the chairman of the Board on 1 July 2020. She joined the Group
in January 1997 and worked as senior manager and general
manager from January 1997 to February 2000. Ms. Weng is
primarily responsible for the Group’s overall corporate operations,
planning and business development. Ms. Weng has rich
experience in the catering industry, and has unique contribution to
the Group on the aspects of building and maintaining core
management team, establishing corporate culture and actuating
lean management.

Ms. Weng was awarded Excellent Female Entrepreneur in China
Hospitality Industry by the China Hotel Association in 2004. She
was elected as one of the 2009-2010 China Hotel Industry 100
Elites and awarded the Platinum Five-Star Medal by the China
Hotel Industry Annual Conference in March 2010. Ms. Weng was
awarded as one of the Outstanding Entrepreneurs in China Brand
Development for 2010 jointly by China United Business News,
Brand Magazine, China Wisdom Engineering Association, China
Brand
Academy and National High Technology Industry Brand Academy

Academy of Management Science, China International
in January 2011. Ms. Weng was also awarded as one of the

Outstanding Female Entrepreneurs in Shanghai Restaurant

Industry, jointly by China Hotel
in December 2011. Ms.

100 Outstanding Female Entrepreneur

Association and Shanghai
Restaurant Association Weng was
by China

Outstanding Female Entrepreneur Association in 2012 and 2015.

awarded

She was selected as the third awardee of the Best Female CEOs
of Listed Company by Forbes China in 2018, was chosen as one
of the one hundred “Most Outstanding Women in Commerce in
China” by Forbes China in 2019 and was selected as one of the
“Most Influential Business Women in China (Future List)” by
Fortune China in 2022.
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EHELRATHANRERE

Ms. Weng completed the Certificate in Chinese Restaurant
Management Course at the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational
Education in 2002 and the International Business Management
CEO course at the Center for Overseas Academic and Cultural
Exchanges, Tsinghua University in November 2005, and
completed the Executive Master of Business Administration
Program organized by Peking University HSBC Business School in
2012.

Ms. Weng was invited as the honorary consultant of the
International Quality Service Management Promotion Association
since 2018. She was invited by the Guangdong Industry
Polytechnic to serve as deputy dean of Hong Kong Tang Palace
Hotel Management College in 2006, and was invited by the
Peking University Alumni Association in 2015 to serve as a special
tutor in the special training course of modern service industry
during the Entrepreneur’s Training Camp, Peking University. Ms.
Weng was appointed as the 15th CPPCC member of Changning
District, Shanghai in November 2021. Ms. Weng was appointed
as Senior Consultant of ERS Institute in January 2024.

Mr. YIP Shu Ming, aged 69, is one of the founders of the Group
and joined the Group in July 1992. Mr. Yip has been appointed as
an executive director of the Company since 25 March 2011, and
was also the chairman of the Group until June 2020. Mr. Yip is
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate strategic
development and also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group and acts as the chairman of a subsidiary (namely Hong
Kong Tang Palace Food & Beverage Group Company Limited) of
the Company. Mr. Yip has rich experience in restaurant business.
Mr. Yip is a honorary founding president of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association. Mr. Yip is a honorary president
of The Hong Kong Federation of Restaurants & Related Trades
Limited. He is a part-time consultant of the China Hotel
Management Company Limited and a permanent honorary
committee member of The Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce. Mr. Yip had been appointed as the 14th CPPCC
member of Changning District, Shanghai. Starting from 2023, Mr.
Yip was appointed as the honorary founding president of
Guangdong Cuisine Association. Apart from his interest in the
Group, Mr. Yip is also one of the direct or indirect owners of
Meco Group and Dongguan Well Excellent, two entities held by
him for property investment and property leasing businesses and
the lessors under CCT Tenancy Agreements as disclosed under
the section headed “Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report.
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Mr. CHAN Man Wai, aged 70, is one of the founders of the
Group and has been with the Group since its establishment in
July 1992. Mr. Chan has been appointed as an executive director
of the Company since 11 March 2010, and was also the vice
chairman of the Group until June 2020. He is responsible for the
Group’s overall corporate strategic development. Mr. Chan is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He has rich
experience in restaurant business. Prior to the establishment of
Meco Petrochemical Limited in 1992, he co-owned and operated
with others the restaurants Fortune Flower Grill and Lounge and
Fortune City Restaurant in Hong Kong between 1983 and 1996.
Apart from his interest in the Group, Mr. Chan is also one of the
direct or indirect owners of Meco Group and Dongguan Well
Excellent, two entities held by him for property investment and
property leasing businesses and the lessors under the CCT
Tenancy Agreements as disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected Transactions” in this
annual report.

Mr. KU Hok Chiu, aged 79, is one of the founders of the Group,
and has been appointed as an executive director of the Company
since 25 March 2011. Mr. Ku joined the Group as a shareholder
of Meco Petrochemical Limited since May 1996. He is responsible
for the Group’s overall corporate strategic development and also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ku has rich
experience in restaurant business. Prior to joining the Group, he
was one of the indirect owners of Datong Restaurant, which
operated in China, from 1985 to 1997.

Mr. Ku is also engaged in kitchen equipment business in China
through Chiu Kwun, involving manufacture, sale, installation and
maintenance of kitchen equipment and provision of consultancy
services related to kitchen equipment and kitchen layout. Apart
from his interest in the Group, Mr. Ku is also one of the
shareholders of Meco Group and Dongguan Well Excellent
respectively, two entities held by him for property investment and
property leasing businesses and the lessors under the CCT
Tenancy Agreements as disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected Transactions” in this

annual report.
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Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong, aged 54, is the chief executive officer of the
Group. He has been with the Group since May 2000 and has
served as the Group’s Vice President since January 2013 until his
appointment as the chief executive officer and the Company’s
executive director in July 2020. Mr. Chen is responsible for the
supervision and management of the Group’s catering business
and the food factory, as well as the overall corporate strategic
development. He was an editor on the China Hotel and Catering
Industry Book Series Editorial Board from May 2005, honorary
consultant to the Provincial and Hong Kong Gourmet Weekly from
March 2006 and chairman of the Expert Committee of Zhuhai
Food & Beverage Association from June 2006. He was accredited
as China Cooking Master by China Hotel Association in 2003 and
accredited National Judge Qualification (Hotel) — First Class from
China Hotel Association in 2004. Mr. Chen was also awarded the
group silver award in the 5th National Cooking Skills Competition
in 2003 by The Organizing Committee of the 5th National
Cooking Skills Competition, the Hong Kong, Guangdong and
Macau Top Ten Chefs 2004 — Gold Award by the Editorial Board
of the Hong Kong, Guangdong and Macau Chefs Ceremony and
the Quan Guo Shi Jia Jin Shao Jiang in the China Hotel System
Service Skill Competition by the China Hotel System Service Skill
Competition (Zhongnan District) Organizing Committee in 2005. He
obtained a certificate from the Nutritional Occupational Skills
Testing Authority of the Ministry of Labor and Social Security for
passing the tests for nutritionist and Chinese cook in December
2005 and June 2007 respectively.
Diploma of Membership by Les Amis d’Escoffier Society, Inc. (now

In 2006, he was awarded a
known as Les Amis d’Escoffier Society of New York, Inc.) as
Honorary Chairman. In October 2020, he was appointed as the
Vice Executive President of the Young Entrepreneur Professional
Committee of Shenzhen Cuisine Association, and in March 2023,
he was appointed as the co-chairman of the Quality Catering
Promotion Committee of the World Federation of Chinese Catering
Industry. Mr. Chen completed the ERS 5S Management Certificate
Course from the Hong Kong Environmental Resource and Safety
Institute in April 2009.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. WONG Chung Yeung, aged 47, joined the Group in January
2012 and was appointed as the Company’s executive director in
July 2020. He resigned as an executive Director and company
secretary of the Company with effect from 1 February 2025.
Mr. Wong was responsible for the overall management of the
Group’s finance and taxation, information technology, investor
relations and listing rules compliance functions, as well as the
overall corporate strategic development. He graduated from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1999 with a
bachelor’s degree of business administration in accounting and is
Institute of Certified Public
Wong has rich experience

a member of the Hong Kong
Accountants. Mr. in finance and
accounting profession. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong
worked in Ernst & Young from June 2000 to December 2011.
Mr. Wong served as a non-executive director of Goal Forward
Holdings Limited (now known as China Wantian Holdings Limited)

(Stock Code: 1854) from 27 May 2016 to 29 September 2021.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KWONG Chi Keung, JP (Justice of the Peace), aged 70, has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of remuneration committee, member of audit committee
and of nomination committee of the Company since 25 March
2011. Mr. Kwong is qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong,
England, Australia (Victoria) and Singapore. He is also a qualified
practicing lawyer in the Greater Bay Area of China and the senior

partner of Messrs. SFKS CK Kwong, Solicitors.

Mr. Kwong was an independent non-executive director of (i) New
Sparkle Roll International
Sparkle Roll Group Limited, Global Food Culture Group Limited,
Jade Dynasty Food Culture Group Limited and Jade Dynasty
Group Limited respectively) (Stock Code: 970), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from August 2002 to
October 2007 and (i) Hang Ten Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 448), a company which was listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange since October 2002 until it was privatized
and delisted with effect from 20 March 2012.

Group Limited (formerly known as
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EHELRATHANRERE

Mr. Kwong was a former Deputy Chairman of the Copyright
Tribunal of Hong Kong and a member of the Administrative
Appeals Board and Panel of Inland Revenue Board of Review.
Mr. Kwong is the Immediate Past President of the Hong Kong
Institute of arbitrators and an International, Past President of the
Asian Patent Attorneys Association, a World Intellectual Property
Organization (WIPO) appointed Neutral for Alternative Dispute
Resolution and Uniform Domain Name Dispute Resolution Policy
Panelist, fellow of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (London)
(ClArb) and Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, a ClArb Chartered
Arbitrator, (CEDR)
Accredited Mediator, and a Notary Public. He is Mediator of

Center for Effective Dispute Resolution

Asian-African Legal Consultative Organization Hong Kong Regional
(AALCO-HKRAC), a listed Arbitrator and
Adjudicator of the Hong Kong International Arbitration Center,

Arbitration Centre

Arbitrator appointed by Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration
(SCIA), South China International Arbitration Center (Hong Kong)
(SCIAHK), Zhuhai Arbitration,
Arbitration Commission and Langfang Arbitration Commission.

Court of International Huizhou
Mr. Kwong is a member of the Advisory Committee on Review of
Patent System in Hong Kong and Convenor of its Working Group
on Interim Regulatory Measures of Patent Practitioners, member of
Working Group on Intellectual Property Trading and Convenor of
IP Arbitration and Mediation.
member of the Expert Advisory Group on Legal and Dispute
(EAG)
Department of Justice in 2024. He is a director of Nano and

its subgroup on He is also a

Resolution Services established by the Hong Kong
Advanced Materials Institute (NAMI) and member of the Innovation
and Technology Venture Fund (ITVF) Advisory Committee.

Mr. Kwong obtained a bachelor’'s degree in laws (LLB) in
November 1976 and a postgraduate certificate in laws (PCLL) in
July 1977, both from the University of Hong Kong. He also
passed the Guangdong, Hong Kong, Macau Greater Bay Area

(GBA) Legal Professional Examination in 2021.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, aged 60, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director, chairman of audit committee,
member of nomination committee and of remuneration committee
of the Company since 25 March 2011. Mr. Kwong has been
appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee with
effect from 18 April 2023.

Mr. Kwong has rich experience in accounting and administration
and is currently a director of O’Park Corporate Services Limited.
He had previously worked as accountant, company secretary and
chief financial officer at various private companies and main board
listed companies.

Mr. Kwong currently is the independent non-executive director of
Landrich Holding Limited (Stock Code: 2132), and Royal Deluxe
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3789).

Besides, Mr. Kwong had been an independent non-executive
director of the following companies until he retired from his office:
Dragon King Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) until
April 2021, Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 509) until June 2019, Elegance Optical International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 907) until April 2017, Clear Lift
Holdings Limited (now known as Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited) (Stock Code: 1341) until
March 2017, and Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Group Sense (International)
Limited) (Stock Code: 601) until March 2025.

Mr. Kwong obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce accounting
from Curtin University of Technology in Australia in August 1996,
a postgraduate diploma in corporate administration (part-time)
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1998
and a master’s degree in professional accounting from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2003. He is a member
of the Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants (now
known as CPA Australia), a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (now
known as The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute) and
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries & Administrators (now
known as The Chartered Governance Institute) respectively.
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Mr. CHAN Kin Shun, aged 64, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director, member of audit committee,
of remuneration committee and of nomination committee of the
Company since 18 April 2023.

Mr. Chan has rich experience in leading, planning, administering,
and teaching in primary school education. From 2003 to 2020,
Mr. Chan served as the principal of different primary schools,
including Lok Sin Tong Lau Sai Yan Primary School, Tsang Mui
Millennium School and Lee Chi Tat Memorial School. During his
tenure as the principal, Mr. Chan shared high-efficiency schools
and teaching experience to more than 500 schools, education
bureaus and business groups in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. Mr. Chan has received various educational awards
between 1999 and 2000, including the Second Outstanding
Teacher Award, the Fifth Outstanding Professional Performance
Award from Education Bureau and the First Outstanding
Achievements in Award for Arts Education from Arts Development
Council.

Mr. Chan has been invited to serve as a member of various
education committees, including member of the Committee on
Development of Curriculum Initiative of the Curriculum
Development Council (1999-2001), member of the Hong Kong
School Drama Council (1998-2004), and member of the
T-standard+ Consortium of the Committee on Professional
Development of Teachers and Principals (2016-2018). In addition,
Mr. Chan also served as the Honorary School Development
Officer of The Hong Kong Accelerated Schools Project (HSASP)
(2000-2001) and the School Development officer of Quality
Schools Project (QSP) (2001-2003), Centre for University & School
Partnership, Faculty of Education, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chan is also the founder of the Holistic Innovative
Education, and at the same time being the chairman of the
association of the Holistic Innovative Education and the
Foundation of the Holistic Innovative Education.

Mr. Chan graduated and obtained Diploma in Counselling and
Guidance of the Hong Kong Shue Yan College in 1984, and
obtained Bachelor degree (Hon) in Psychology in 1996 and
Master degree in Applied Psychology in 1998 at the Cheltenham
& Gloucester College respectively.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEUNG Cho Kiu, aged 34, has been appointed as the chief
financial officer, joint company secretary and authorized
representative of the Company since March 2025. He is
responsible for the overall management of the Group’s finance
and taxation, investor relations and listing rules compliance
functions. Mr. Cheung has over 10 years’ experience in the
accounting and auditing field. Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Business Administration in Professional Accounting from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2013. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. From January 2014 to October 2020, Mr. Cheung
worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu where he last served as
manager in the assurance department. From October 2020 to
March 2024, he joined the Group as the finance manager
responsible for the overall management of the Group’s finance
From April 2024 to February 2025,
Mr. Cheung was the senior finance manager at GP Acoustics
International Limited under Gold Peak Technology Group Limited
(Stock Code: 0040).

and taxation functions.

Ms. WANG Zuochun, aged 62, is currently the Group’s controller
of human resources. Ms. Wang joined the Group in May 2008
has been serving as manager of human resources and general
manager of human resources and was appointed as the Group’s
controller of human resources in January 2015, with overall
responsibility for the strategic planning and target management of
human resources, establishment and improvement of human
resources management system and talent development of the
Company. Ms. Wang has extensive experience in human
resources since 2001 and has made significant contributions to
the Group management in promoting school-enterprise
cooperation. Ms. Wang graduated from Beijing University of
Chemical Technology with a bachelor’s degree and obtained the
title of Senior Engineer in 1999; she obtained the Certificate of
Corporate Human Resources Manager in 2004 and completed the
ERS 5S Management Certificate Course of the Hong Kong
Environmental Resource and Safety Institute in April 2009.
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Ms. HE Jianmei, aged 51, is the deputy chief operating officer of
the Group. Ms. He joined the Group in 1997 and served as the
general manager of Beijing operations and the chief operating
officer of Northern China in March 2008 and January 2015
respectively, until her appointment as the deputy chief operating
officer of the Group in March 2019, with overall responsibility for
the Group’s corporate culture building and business development
in Northern China. Ms. He graduated from the International
Business Management CEO course at the Center for External
Academic and Cultural Exchange of Tsinghua University in
November 2005. She completed an undergraduate course in law
from the Correspondence College of the Party School (E#X) in
December 2009. Ms. He completed the ERS 5S Management
Certificate Course of the Hong Kong Environmental Resources
and Safety Institute in April 2009 and was awarded a certificate of
completion of training as a therapeutic health practitioner by the
Education and Training Centre of the Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security in April 2010. In the same vyear,
she was awarded the Certificate of Qualification for Level 2
Accreditation of Restaurant Services of the National Restaurant
Industry by the China Cuisine Association. In December 2012, she
was accredited as a senior nutrition caterer by the Beijing
Occupational Skills Certification and Management Centre.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. He was appointed by the China National Radio as a
professional consultant for food and lifestyle programmes in June
2005 and was appointed by the China Association for the
Promotion of Chinese Medicine Research as the Deputy Secretary
General of the Professional Committee of Food Therapy and
Health in December 2009. In December 2018, she was awarded
the title of “Outstanding Integrity Entrepreneur” for 2018 A Grade
or above credit enterprises by the China General Chamber of
Commerce and was further awarded the title of “Honest and Self-
disciplined Meritorious Entrepreneur” for 2019 food industry in
July 2019. In September 2021, she was awarded the title of
“Excellent Manager of National Diamond-level Restaurant” by the
National Restaurant and Hotel Rating Committee. Ms. He was
appointed as a “National Health Commission Nutrition Advisor” by
the Capital Health Nutrition and Gourmet Association in 2022. In
2023, she was designated as a “Judge Practitioner” for the
National Diamond-rated Restaurants, and in the same year, she
was honored with the title of “Senior Personnel with diverse skills
in the Beijing Catering Industry”. In January 2024, Ms. He was
appointed as the Deputy Director of the Volunteer Service Center
of the “Xicheng District Committee of the China Democratic
National Construction Association” in Beijing. In July 2024, she
was appointed as the Deputy Director of the “Catering Committee
of the Xicheng District Committee of the Beijing Democratic
National Construction Association”. In February 2025, Ms. He was
recognized as the “Outstanding Member of the Year 2024” by the
“Central Committee of the Beijing Xicheng District Democratic
National Construction Association”.

English names and titles disclosed above are for identification
only.
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Corporate Governance Report
AP 2 B TR o

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability. These can be achieved by an effective and
diversified Board, segregation of duties with clear responsibility,
sound internal control, appropriate risk assessment procedures
and transparency to all the shareholders.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions as set
out in Appendix C1 (Corporate Governance Code) to the Listing
Rules throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is in charge of the task of maximizing the financial
performance of the Group and making decisions in the best
interest of the Company. The Board is responsible for formulating
business policies and strategies, monitoring the performance of
the senior management of the Company, adopting and monitoring
internal business and management control, approving and
monitoring annual budgets and business plans, reviewing
operational and financial performance, considering dividend policy,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s systems of financial
control and risk management. The Board has delegated the day-
to-day management, administration and operation of the Group
and implementation and execution of Board policies and
strategies to the executive directors and management of the
Company. The management would provide such explanation and
information, including business development, management
accounts and monthly updates, to the Board with sufficient details
that will enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before the Board for approval.

At the same time, the Board gives clear directions as to the
management’s powers, in particular, where management should
report back and obtain prior board approval before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on the Company’s
behalf. The Board reviews the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Company.
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The Board, while developing the Group’s mission and strategy,
will also ensure its alignment with the Group’s values and
corporate culture. To achieve this, the Group has established a
dedicated training department that is directly supervised by the
chairman of the Board, which offers diverse and multi-channel
training courses that combine the essence of traditional culture
with- modern management strategies. The mission is to co-create
happy catering, and to instill in all employees the values and
corporate culture of integrity and compliance, gratitude and mutual
help, and collaborative growth. For effective and thorough
implementation, the Group has also established a Humanity
Wellness Department to assist in promoting the implementation of
relevant management measures in various regions.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consisted of nine members,
including six executive directors, Ms. WENG Peihe (Chairman), Mr.
YIP Shu Ming, Mr. CHAN Man Wai, Mr. KU Hok Chiu, Mr. CHEN
Zhi Xiong (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. WONG Chung Yeung
(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) and three
independent non-executive directors, Mr. KWONG Chi Keung, Mr.
KWONG Ping Man and Mr. CHAN Kin Shun. The Board’s
composition was established with diversification as a major
objective and consists of one female member, one aged between
40 and 49, two aged between 50 and 59 and six aged 60 or
above. All members are Chinese and except for Mr. CHEN Zhi
Xiong and Mr. WONG Chung Yeung who were appointed on 1
July 2020 and Mr. CHAN Kin Shun who was appointed on 18
April 2023, all members have more than ten years of service as
directors. Biographical details of each of the directors are set out
on pages 23 to 33 of this annual report. Save as disclosed in this
there is no financial,

annual report, business, family or other

material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.

All executive directors entered into service contracts with the
Company for a specific term commencing from 1 July 2023 and
expiring on 30 June 2026, which could be terminated by either
party by giving not less than three months’ written notice.
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In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive directors
(representing one-third of the Board), one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications in accounting and financial
management. All the independent non-executive directors have
confirmed in writing to the Company that they have met all the
guidelines for assessing their independence as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Except for the renewal of letter of
appointment of Mr. CHAN Kin Shun which is commencing from 1
July 2024 and expiring on 30 June 2026, all independent non-
executive directors renewed their respective letter of appointment
for a specific term commencing from 1 July 2023 and expiring on
30 June 2026, which could be terminated by either party by

giving not less than one month’s written notice.

Not less than one-third of the Board are subject to retirement
from office by rotation at the annual general meeting provided
that every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years in accordance with the Articles of
Association. Besides, a new director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy or as an additional director shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting and shall then be eligible
for re-election.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
given sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.
Independent non-executive directors have provided the Board with
their diversified expertise, experience and professional advice. The
Board believes that the ratio between executive directors and
independent non-executive directors is reasonable and adequate
to provide sufficient checks and balances in order to safeguard
the interests of shareholders of the Company and of the Group.
The Board also believes that the views and participation of the
independent non-executive directors in the Board and committee
meetings provide independent judgment on the issues relating to
strategy, performance, conflict of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company are considered and safeguarded.
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The Company recognises the importance of the availability of the

independent perspectives and opinions to the Board for good

corporate governance. Therefore the Board has implemented the

following mechanisms and will evaluate their effectiveness

annually:

1.

Nomination Committee has been established to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
independent non-executive directors, in accordance with the
Company’s nomination policy and its terms of reference,
and to ensure that the proportion of independent non-
executive directors is at least one-third of the total number
of directors in the Board.

If a recommended independent non-executive director
candidate is already serving as a director for seven or more
listed companies, the Board will further examine the
recommendation and ensure that the candidate can
dedicate enough time to serve on the Board. The Company
also expects all independent non-executive directors to
attend the annual general meeting, all Board meetings, and
any Board committee meetings they participate in, to ensure
that their independent views are fully reflected.

To enable all directors to fulfill their duties effectively, the
Board and all its committees are authorised to seek external
independent professional opinions, including but not limited
to risk assessment, valuation and legal opinions. When
deemed necessary by the director or committee, external
experts with relevant expertise and experience may be
invited to participate in the discussions.

The chairman of the Board meets with independent non-
executive directors annually without the presence of the
executive directors.

The Board considered the said mechanisms have been operating

effectively.
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All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
in relation to the Group’s businesses and affairs as well as
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company
secretary, who is responsible for providing directors with board
papers and related materials. The directors may seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses in carrying out
their duties and responsibilities.

The Company has maintained appropriate and sufficient insurance
coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal actions taken
against directors arising out of corporate activities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board held four
regular board meetings. At these regular board meetings,
directors discussed and exchanged their views on significant
issues and general operations of the Group, formulated business
policies and strategies, reviewed the financial performance, budget
plan and approved the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the interim results of the Company for the
six months ended 30 June 2024.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in paragraph A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, and in this regard the duties of the Board shall include:

(@)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

(¢)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate

Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for ensuring that sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are maintained within
the Group. It is achieved by ongoing
committees, namely Audit Committee and risk management and
internal control committee (the “Risk and Control Committee”).
Risk and Control Committee comprises the chairman of the
Board, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the
Company, PRC legal advisor engaged by the
Company, and Mr. KWONG Ping Man (the independent non-
executive director, who possesses relevant experience to review
and assess the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s
measures). Such material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls.

reviews through 2

an external

internal control reviews cover all

The Company has also established an internal audit department in
which the internal audit manager is professionally qualified with
relevant experience to monitor and oversee daily operation of
internal control matters. The Risk and Control Committee is
responsible for i) the implementation of the plans
recommended by the internal audit department and ii) ensuring
the compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws, rules
and regulations in various business locations. The internal audit
department and Risk and Control Committee facilitate the annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems and
directly report to the Audit Committee. Any deficiencies and risks
identified during the review process will be evaluated and
addressed in the Audit Committee and be reported to the Board
if the impact is considered as significant.

remedial

Pursuant to the code provision D.2.4 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the process described above and the main
feature of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems is through effective communications with various
business units and functional departments so as to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks (including environmental,
social and governance risks (“ESG Risks”)). Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Besides, the Company has according to the requirement under
part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, established
written procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside
information and circulated to all staff and management who may
due to their roles and duties, be in possession of these potential
price sensitive information.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and Risk and Control

Committee, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to ensure the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit, financial
relating to the ESG

performance and reporting for the year ended 31 December 2024

reporting functions, as well as those
in accordance with the requirement set out in code provision
D.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, and discussed twice
with the management of the Company and its external and
internal auditors. It is considered that i) no material change in the
nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG Risks) was
noted since the last annual review, ii) no significant control failure
or weakness that may have a material impact on the Company’s
financial performance has been identified during the Year, and iii)
the systems covered all material controls: including financial,
operational

and compliance controls and risk management

functions, and are effective and adequate to safeguard the

Group’s assets and shareholders’ interest.

The Company has established specific whistleblowing policy and
system, providing dedicated channels for employees and external
parties (such as suppliers) to anonymously raise any concerns
they may have about any possible improprieties in any matters
related to the Group to the Audit Committee. In addition to the
whistleblowing policy, the Company also has clear policies to
promote and support anti-corruption laws and regulations, with
the advocation and shaping from the corporate culture, conflict of
interest policy and clear requirements in the employee code of
conduct, together forming the Company’s integrity promotion
mechanism.
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Attendance of the individual directors at the regular board
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 December

2024 is set out as follows:
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Meetings General Meeting
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ExexEdes BRRBEKRE
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The attendance rate above includes both physical attendance and

Executive directors

HITEE

Ms. WENG Peihe (Chairman)

SERLL(FE)

Mr. YIP Shu Ming

ERBALE

Mr. CHAN Man Wai

BR X 18 5k &

Mr. KU Hok Chiu

HEBELE

Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong (Chief Executive Officer)

PR S S A (7T I AR )

Mr. WONG Chung Yeung (Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary) (resigned on 1 February 2025)

BRGEE (BEEHBERL AWE)
(R-FE-AF - H—HET)

Independent non-executive directors
BUHBITESE

Mr. KWONG Chi Keung

BP 558 5% &

Mr. KWONG Ping Man

BB I 32 5% A

Mr. CHAN Kin Shun

PR 52 JIB 5 £

attendance through online means.

*

Total refers to the total number of meetings eligible to attend.
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At least 14 days’ notice prior to the date of a regular board
meeting is given to all directors and an agenda together with
board papers are sent to all directors no less than three days
before the date of a regular board meeting (or other agreed
period). All directors are given the opportunity to include in the
agenda any other matter that they would like to discuss in the
meeting. With respect to board committee meetings, reasonable
prior notice is given to all committee members. All directors and
committee members of board committees are urged to attend the
board meetings and board committee meetings in person. For the
directors and committee members who are unable to attend the
meeting, participation through electronic means are arranged and
available.

Should a director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the board meeting, he/she shall abstain from
voting. Independent non-executive directors with no conflict of
interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict of

interest issues.

The company secretary assists the chairman of the Board in
preparation of the agenda for the board meeting and board
committee meeting and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations regarding the board meeting are followed. He also
prepares and keeps detailed minutes of each board meeting and
board committee meeting. Within a reasonable time after each
meeting, the draft minutes is circulated to all directors or
committee members for comment and the final and approved
version of minutes is sent to all directors or committee members
including the Audit

Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,

for their records. Board committees,

all follow the applicable principles, practices and procedures used
in board meetings.
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The Company has received from all directors records of their
continuous professional development training for the year ended

31 December 2024, details of which are set out below:
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Ms. WENG Peihe

FERLZ+

Mr. YIP Shu Ming

ERALE

Mr. CHAN Man Wai

BR X 18 & 4

Mr. KU Hok Chiu
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Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong
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Mr. WONG Chung Yeung (resigned on 1 February 2025)
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Mr. KWONG Chi Keung
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Mr. KWONG Ping Man
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Ms. WENG Peihe is the chairman of the Board and Mr. CHEN Zzhi
Xiong is the chief executive officer of the Company, in compliance
with the code provision C.2.1 of Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. The divisions of responsibilities between the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company are
clearly divided to ensure a balance of power and authority and to
reinforce their independence and accountability.

Ms.
responsible for providing leadership to the Board and ensuring
that the Board functions effectively; that directors receive in timely
manner adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete
and reliable and that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at board meetings and that good corporate governance

WENG Peihe, being the chairman of the Company, is

practices and procedures are established. The chairman also
encourages directors to participate actively in and to make a full
contribution to the Board’s affairs so that the Board can act in the
best interest of the Company.

Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong, being the chief executive officer of the
Company, is responsible for the daily operations of the Company,
execution of business policies, strategies, objectives and plans as
formulated and adopted by the Board and leading the
management of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS (THE “MODEL CODE”)
The Company has adopted its own code for securities
employees and employees of a

subsidiary who is likely to possess inside information on terms no

transactions by directors,

less exacting than the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all
of the directors and all of the directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the Year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETE
UNDERTAKING

The Company has received confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their compliance with the terms of the
Non-compete Undertaking for the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 which are to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and of the Group as at that date and of the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year end and are properly
prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with the
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards. The
directors, having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
acknowledging their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report”
contained in this annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

The Board adopted a set of written terms of reference of each of
the board committees of the Company which are in line with the
Listing Rules requirements. The written terms of reference of each
of the board committees of the Company are posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Company has established an Audit Committee since 25
March 2011 with written terms of reference (as amended or
supplemented) in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee comprises three members who are all independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. KWONG Ping Man (the
Chairman), Mr. KWONG Chi Keung and Mr. CHAN Kin Shun. The
Audit Committee reports to the Board and is delegated by the
Board to assess matters related to the financial statements.
Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
perform, amongst the others, the following duties:

° making recommendation to the Board on appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of that external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

° reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control procedures and systems;

° reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

° facilitating the communication between external auditors,
internal audit department and management;

° ensuring that management has performed its duty to have
an effective internal control and risk management systems;

and

° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual reports and accounts and interim reports.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, four Audit Committee
meetings were held and all minutes were kept by the company
secretary. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Company, annual results
and annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023, and the unaudited interim results and interim
report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
reviewed and assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems, reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal audit function and reviewed the
renewal of the continuing connected transactions. The Audit
Committee reported that there was no material uncertainty relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Attendance of individual members of the Audit Committee at
meetings for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as
follows:
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Meetings
Committee Members Attended/Total*
EZEEHE HERE B
Mr. KWONG Ping Man (Chairman) 4/4
BBIR X e & (F /)
Mr. KWONG Chi Keung 4/4
BF 558 5 A&
Mr. CHAN Kin Shun 4/4
PR FE JIB 5 4

*

Total refers to the total number of meetings eligible to attend.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor is set
out as follows:

¥ B8 B 5 A

SN TARBINSZEE 2 FHMEI T

Fee paid/payable

e ENER
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T_=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®F T
Type of service: Pk %% tE 48 -
Audit services FERZRE 1,700 1,700
Non-audit services (Including tax advisory IEEZRSE (BERG
and tax compliance services) BRI ERRT) 25 27
Total T 1,725 1,727

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee since
25 March 2011 with written terms of reference in accordance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal responsibilities
of the Remuneration Committee include but are not limited to
making recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages
relating to all directors and senior management of the Group and
ensure none of the directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members who are
all independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. KWONG Chi
Keung (the Chairman), Mr. KWONG Ping Man and Mr. CHAN Kin

Shun.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held to review the remuneration
packages of the directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee has made recommendation to the Board
in respect of the remuneration package of directors and senior
management of the Company, and director’s fee for the year
ended 31 December 2024. No director or his/her associate was
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Attendance of individual members of the Remuneration Committee
at meetings for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as
follows:
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Meetings
Committee Members Attended/Total*
ZEEgRE HERE A
Mr. KWONG Chi Keung (Chairman) 2/2
BB ()
Mr. KWONG Ping Man 2/2
BB IR 3 % &
Mr. CHAN Kin Shun 2/2
PR 522 I 5 A

* Total refers to the total number of meetings eligible to attend. * MYREEERLENEREHK -

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

BE-_Z-_WF+-—_A=+T—"HILFESH
EEBABZEHMARFT MT :

Number of

persons

Remuneration band (RMB) HEAR (AR®) A
1,000,000 and below 1,000,000k JA T~ 1
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,00122,000,000 1

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules are set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee since 25
March 2011 with written terms of reference (as amended or
supplemented) in accordance with code provision B.3.1 of
Corporate Governance Code. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for, including but not limited

to, making

recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill
vacancies of the Board. The Nomination Committee comprises
three members who are all independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. KWONG Ping Man (the Chairman), Mr. KWONG Chi

Keung and Mr. CHAN Kin Shun.

The Company recognises the importance of the Board’s diversity
The
Company has adopted a board diversity policy. Therefore, while

in achieving a sustainable and balanced development.

the Board’s appointment will be based on meritocracy, a range of
diversity perspectives will also be considered, including but not

limited to cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, ethnicity and length of

service.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and will
disclose in the corporate governance report about the
implementation of the board diversity policy on annual basis. The
Board considered that the board diversity policy was effective for
the year under review. The Board targets to maintain the current

level of female representation at the Board.

December 2024,
Committee meetings were held by the Nomination Committee to

During the year ended 31 two Nomination
(i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board which
is determined by directors’ skills and experience appropriate to
the Company’s business; (i) review the execution effectiveness of
the board diversity policy and made recommendations to the
Board for approval; (i) assess and confirm the independence of
review and

all independent non-executive directors; and (iv)

recommend the appointment and retirement by rotation of

directors.
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SUMMARY AND MEASURABLE OBJECTIVES OF
THE BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the diversity
of the composition of the Board from diversified angles:

Corporate Governance Report

1B 3E B 6 W

EFERASTAREZBERT
HEEE

FR REZBECUZETHRNESS
AT E 2 Z T -

No. of Directors

EE¥A
Gender Male: 8
15 Bl S
Female: 1
M
Age Group 41-50: 1
FH AT 51-60: 3
61-70: 4
71-80: 1
Length of Board Service (year) 0-10: 3
EFEeRBFHF) 11-20: 6

The Nomination Committee considered that the Board had
achieved gender diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a
diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company and will
review the composition and diversity of the Board on an annual
basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

As at 31 December 2024, the members of the Board consists of
one female director and eight male directors. The total workforce
gender diversity (including senior staff) is at 40:60 female to male
ratio. The Board considers that at present there is a reasonably
high gender diversity in the Group’s workforce, and will continue
to monitor the need to maintain or, if desired or necessary,

increase diversity to meet our corporate objectives.
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Attendance of individual members of the Nomination Committee at
meetings for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as
follows:

BHE_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HIFEREH
Be@EXENEEHENEEHIOT

=
==

Meetings
Committee Members Attended/Total*
ZEEgRE HERE A
Mr. KWONG Ping Man (Chairman) 2/2
BB S & (£ )
Mr. KWONG Chi Keung 2/2
BP 558 5% A&
Mr. CHAN Kin Shun 2/2
PR 32 JIE 5 A

*

Total refers to the total number of meetings eligible to attend.
NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee has
been delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.
The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment
of new Directors.

The Nomination Committee should utilize various methods for
identifying candidates for directorship, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates for
directorship properly submitted by the shareholders of the
Company.

The evaluation of candidates for directorship by the Nomination
Committee may include, without limitation, review of resume and
job history, personal interviews, verification of professional and
personal references and performance of background checks. The
Board will consider the recommendations of the Nomination
Committee and is responsible for designating the candidates for
directorship to be considered by the Shareholders for their
election at the general meeting of the Company, or appointing the
suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies or
as an addition to the Board, subject to compliance of the
constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of
Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or
service contract setting out the key terms and conditions of the
appointment of the Directors.
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The Nomination Committee should consider the following
qualifications as a minimum criteria to be required for a candidate
in recommending to the Board to be a potential new Director, or
the continued service of existing Director:

° the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

° proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field
and the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

° skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

° the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

° an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is
required for a member of the Board and the commitment of
time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those
responsibilities;

o independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as
required under the Listing Rules and the composition of the
Board is in conformity with the provisions of the Listing
Rules.

The Nomination Committee may also consider such other factors
as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that Board policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed.

During the Year and up to 1 February 2025, Mr. WONG Chung
Yeung was the company secretary of the Company. Please refer
to the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the biographical information
of Mr. WONG. Mr. WONG has undertaken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening EGM

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an EGM of
the Company are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the
Articles of Association:

(1) One or more shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings, shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

(2)  Such requisition shall be made in writing to the directors or
the company secretary of the Company and lodged with (i)
the head office and (ii) the registered office of the Company
in the Cayman Islands at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

(8) The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

(4) If the directors fail to proceed to convene the EGM within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the Requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the directors shall be reimbursed to
the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association or the
Companies Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for
shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings other
than a proposal of a person for election as director. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The following procedures for a shareholder of the Company to
propose a person for election as a director of the Company are
prepared in accordance with Article 110 of the Articles of
Association:

A shareholder may propose a person (“Candidate”) for election as
a director at a general meeting by lodging the following documents
within the period mentioned below at the head office and principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 3 on 10th
Floor, Greenfield Tower, Concordia Plaza, No. 1 Science Museum
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the branch share registrar and
transfer office (“Hong Kong Share Registrar”) of the Company in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong:

(@) a written notice (“Proposal Notice”) of the intention to propose
the Candidate for election as a Director, which must (i) state
the information of the Candidate as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, which is available on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk); and (i) must be
signed by the nominating shareholder; and

(b) a written notice (“Consent Notice”) by the Candidate, which
must () indicate his/her willingness to be elected as a
Director and consent to the publication of his/her personal
information as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;
and (i) must be signed by the Candidate.

The Proposal Notice and the Consent Notice shall be lodged with
the head office or the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the
Company for a period of at least seven (7) clear days
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting and ending no later than seven (7)
clear days before the date of such general meeting.

To enable the shareholders to make an informed decision on their
election at a general meeting, the Company shall publish an
announcement or issue a supplemental circular as soon as
practicable after the receipt of the Proposal Notice and the
Consent Notice. The Company shall include particulars of the
Candidate in the announcement or the supplementary circular.
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The Company shall assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the general meeting of the election to give shareholders
(10)
information disclosed

at least ten business days to consider the relevant
in the announcement or supplemental

circular.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

To direct enquiries to the Board, the shareholders should submit
his/her
information to the company secretary at the following:

enquiries in writing with his/her detailed contact

By post to the head office

Tel: (852) 2180-7055

Fax: (852) 2180-7056

Email: info@tanggong.cn
Website: http://www.tanggong.cn

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
COMMUNICATIONS

The Company understands the importance of maintaining effective
mutual communication with its shareholders and values every
opportunity to communicate with them. The Company has
adopted a policy of disclosing clear and relevant information to
shareholders through various channels in a timely manner. Annual
and interim reports are printed and sent to all shareholders by
post as
provisions of the Listing Rules by posting announcements,

requested. The Company has also complied with

notices, annual reports, interim reports, environmental, social and
governance report and shareholders’ circulars on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company (http://www.tanggong.cn).
Apart from these documents, press releases and newsletters are
posted on the Company’s website to enhance its transparency.
The Company’s website is updated in a timely manner and
contains a wide range of additional information on the Company’s
business activities.
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In addition to publication of information, the annual general
meeting of the Company provides a forum for communication
between shareholders and directors. The chairman of the Board in
person chairs the annual general meeting to ensure shareholders’
views are communicated to the Board. Moreover, the briefing on
the Company’s business and the questions and answers session
at the annual general meeting allow shareholders to stay informed
of the Group’s strategies and goals. The investor relations
department also responds to analysts and institutional investors’
questions on the results announcement through various online
means such as email or video conferences.

In addition to the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the
board committees, or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees and the external auditors of the Company,
are available to answer any queries that shareholders may have.
The chairman of the Board will propose separate resolutions for
each issue to be considered at the annual general meeting.

The annual general meeting proceedings are reviewed from time
to time to ensure that the Company follows best corporate
governance practices and shareholders’ rights are preserved.
Notice of annual general meeting is delivered to all shareholders
at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of the annual
general meeting, setting out details of each proposed resolution,
voting procedures and other relevant information. The procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll will be explained by the
chairman of the Board at the annual general meeting. Poll results
are released by way of publication of an announcement.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held one
annual general meeting and one online communication meeting for
each of the 2023 annual results and 2024 interim results. The
Company also conducted online surveys with individual

stakeholders (including institutional investors), to analyse the
importance of various key issues in the environmental, social, and
governance report. The Board has examined and reviewed the
shareholders’ communication policy in 2024. Taking into account
the variety of existing channels for communication and

participation, the Board is of the view that its shareholders’
communication policy has been duly and effectively implemented
and all shareholders’ inquiries could be addressed by designated

personnel through established channels.
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
December 2024. The
Company’s latest memorandum and articles of association is

documents during the year ended 31

available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.
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The board of directors is pleased to present this report of
directors and the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s fair review of the business during the Year,
discussion on the future business development of the Group and
the descriptions of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of 31 December 2024 (if any) are set out
in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 6 to 9 and pages 10 to 22 respectively of
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects could be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties including business risks, operational risks and
financial management risks.

The details of financial risk management objectives and practices
of the Group are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. The management will
continue to develop an efficient communication platform to
enhance relationships with individual and corporate customers,
and maintain good relationships with suppliers and customers.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material
and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/
or customers. The Group also recognises the importance of
human resources to its success and endeavours to recruit and
retain qualified and experienced personnel. Details are disclosed
on page 21 in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and continue to adopt effective measures to achieve
efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction, and
review its effectiveness from time to time. Green initiatives and
measures have been adopted in the Group’s managed
restaurants. Such initiatives include recycling of recyclable waste,
various energy saving measures, water saving practices and
promoting the awareness of customers and employees. The
Group will disclose further details in its Environmental, Social and
Governance report which will be published (in form of electronic
version on the Company’s and Stock Exchange’s websites
synchronously) in accordance with the requirement of Rule 13.91
and the reporting framework of Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the Mainland China while the Company
itself is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares listed
on the Stock Exchange. Our establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in the
Cayman Islands, Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, as
far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations in the Mainland
China, Hong Kong and the Cayman lIslands that have a significant
impact on the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
page 93 of this annual report.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 20 June 2025, total
amounting to approximately RMB10,115,000. Subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, the final
dividend is expected to be paid on 25 July 2025.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividend.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

According to the dividend policy approved and adopted by the
Board of the Company with effect from 1 January 2019, the
Company considers stable and sustainable
shareholders of the Company to be its goal and endeavours to
maintain a dividend policy to achieve such goal. In deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board would take into account the Group’s results of
operations, earnings performance, cashflows, financial condition,
future prospects and other factors that the Board may consider
relevant. Whilst the Board will review from time to time for
determination on proposed dividend with the above factors taken
into account, there can be no assurance that dividends will be
declared or paid in any particular amount for any given period.

returns to

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

of the
Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of

For the purpose of determining the entitlement
members of the Company will be closed from 2 June 2025 to
6 June 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of share(s) will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfers documents, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with Tricor Investor
Services Limited, the branch share registrar and transfer office of
the Company in Hong Kong, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 30 May 2025.

The proposed final dividend is subject to the passing of an
ordinary resolution by the Shareholders at the AGM. For the
purpose of determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to the
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (if approved),
the register of members of the Company will be closed on
20 June 2025, during which no transfer of share(s) will be
effected. To be entitled to the final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024 (if approved), all
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged

transfers documents,

with Tricor Investor Services Limited, the branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for

registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 June 2025.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on pages 212 to 213 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets during the Year are set out in notes 13 and 14
to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December 2024,
as calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands, amounted to RMB42,456,000 which
included the share premium account of the Company amounting
to RMB17,801,000. Under the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and restated) of the Cayman Islands and
the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to its
shareholders provided that immediately following the distribution
or the payment of dividends, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable contributions
amounting to RMB513,000.
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DIRECTORS

The directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

. WENG Peihe

Mr. YIP Shu Ming

Mr. CHAN Man Wai

Mr. KU Hok Chiu

Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong

Mr. WONG Chung Yeung (resigned on 1 February 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KWONG Chi Keung
Mr. KWONG Ping Man
Mr. CHAN Kin Shun

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. YIP Shu Ming, Mr. KU Hok Chiu and Mr. KWONG Ping Man
will retire as directors by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as directors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from Mr. KWONG Chi
Keung, Mr. KWONG Ping Man and Mr. CHAN Kin Shun. As at the
date of this report, the Company considers these independent
non-executive directors independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. WENG Peihe, Mr. YIP Shu Ming, Mr. CHAN Man
Wai, Mr. KU Hok Chiu, Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong and Mr. WONG
Chung Yeung, all being executive directors, has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term of three
years commencing from 1 July 2023 and expiring on 30 June
2026, which could be terminated by either party by giving not less
than three months’ written notice.
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Each of Mr. KWONG Chi Keung and Mr. KWONG Ping Man, all
being independent non-executive directors, has been appointed
for a specific term of three years commencing from 1 July 2023
and expiring on 30 June 2026, which could be terminated by
either party by giving not less than one month’s written notice.
Mr. CHAN Kin Shun, being independent non-executive director,
has been appointed for a specific term commencing from 18 April
2023. The term was renewed on 1 July 2024 and will expire on
30 June 2026, which could be terminated by either party by
giving not less than one month’s written notice. The
appointments are subject to the provisions of the Articles of
Association with regard to vacation of office of directors, removal
and retirement by rotation of directors.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any of our subsidiaries
which is not terminable by the employer within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of remuneration of the Directors during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2024.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23
to 38 of this annual report.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share incentive scheme disclosed below, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares and
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
as follows:

BEROUBEER ZZH

BT PR R 2 B BB ET BION - AT
HER AR RETAMBAR  SERFA
EARETEMNZSE  EARREFAHE
BARRBREMEMEABRZ RONKE
EEMESH -

EERFETHAERKRN REHE
BROohEEEFNEERAR

RZZE-_WNE+_A=Z+—H8 AQRAESH
REZTHRABRARR RETMAAEE AE
(EERFBHFRBEKROIEXVI) ZH - 8
R EREREET  EELENRAAEAR
BEAE M EEG FE3525FE 2 E LA
ZHERRKE  ABBFEEFAEIGERR
BRI ERS RAR  FEBEHIOT

Number of ordinary shares ™7

TE R B Wi
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as
Held by at 31 December
controlled 2024
Beneficial corporation N-ZE_OME
Name of Director owners B2 EH Total +=—A=+-—H
EEpE EREAA EERFE Bt REBPHBEIL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each
of the Company
RAFEREMEC.0SE T2 & B
Ms. WENG Peihe 34,950,000 (L) — 34,950,000 (L) 3.24%
SEARL L
Mr. YIP Shu Ming — 247,944,000 (L) 247,944,000 (L) 23.04%

ERBRELE
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Name of Director

EEHR

Number of ordinary shares ™o© 7

Beneficial
owners

BEREAA

%EH&?I g (1)

Held by
controlled
corporation
HmEZEd
ZEER

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as

at 31 December

2024

R-ZFE-NF

Total +=A=+-—H
Bt BRESQLBEIH

Mr. CHAN Man Wai
PR 318 T

Mr. KU Hok Chiu
h B AE

Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong
PR ST

Mr. WONG Chung Yeung
BEHEGEE

Notes:

12,952,000 (L)

10,020,000 (L)

2,990,000 (L)

352,500,000 (L)
(Note 3) (K1i13)

105,700,000 (L)

(Note 4) (it i4)

(1) The letter “L” denotes the directors’ long position in the shares of (1)

the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2) These shares were held by Current Success Investments Limited, 2)
which was wholly-owned by Mr. YIP Shu Ming. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. YIP Shu Ming is taken to be interested in the shares held
by Current Success Investments Limited.

3) These shares were held by Best Active Investments Limited, which 3)
was wholly-owned by Mr. CHAN Man Wai. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. CHAN Man Wai is taken to be interested in the shares held by

Best Active Investments Limited.

365,452,000 (L) 33.96%
105,700,000 (L) 9.82%
10,020,000 (L) 0.93%
2,990,000 (L) 0.27%

FRILIRTESERARA LA BB
EROWFRE -

Itt %5 B 17 A Current  Success  Investments
Limited (B ¥R A EE2EHB)FE IR
BESRIAEG  EBRALERREAR
Current Success Investments Limited T

BROR P EA R -

It %5 B% 9 ©1 Best Active Investments Limited
(HRXBEAEZ2EBB)FA BREFFH
KB E 5 B - BR S 5t & R B R Best
Active Investments Limited 3 & &) A% 1) &
HEHE -
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4) These shares were held by Bright Mind Investments Limited, which
was wholly-owned by Mr. KU Hok Chiu. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
KU Hok Chiu is taken to be interested in the shares held by Bright
Mind Investments Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
directors or chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
persons (other than a director or chief executive of the Company)

in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO (“SFO Register”) were as follows:
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Number and

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as at

class of 31 December 2024

securities Mot 7) R-E-ME

Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest EHHER +=ZBA=+—H

RE®E B EEHE k= R BRESAEI L

Current Success Investments Beneficial owner 247,944,000 23.04%
Limited Mete 2/(#:22) EmEAA shares (L)
AR (L)

Ms. WONG Sau Mui ete 2 Interest of spouse 247,944,000 23.04%
= H M w2 Bt 48 2= shares (L)
B (L)

Best Active Investments Limited Beneficial owner 352,500,000 32.75%
(Note 8) (#1£3) BB A shares (L)
% 19 (L)

Ms. AU Yim Bing Anniver et 9 Interest of spouse 365,452,000 33.96%
& 8t jk 2z 4= Wats) Bic 48 # 2 shares (L)
AR (L)

Bright Mind Investments Beneficial owner 105,700,000 9.82%
Limited vete 4 (#fie) EmEA A shares (L)
B (L)

Ms. KU Wai Man (Note 4 Interest of spouse 105,700,000 9.82%
HER LW Ao (B = shares (L)
% 19 (L)
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The letter “L” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares
of the Company.

These shares were beneficially owned by Current Success
Investments Limited, which was wholly-owned by Mr. YIP Shu Ming
(“Mr. YIP”"). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. YIP is taken to be interested
in the shares held by Current Success Investments Limited. Ms.
WONG Sau Mui (“Ms. WONG”) is the spouse of Mr. YIP. Under the
SFO, Ms. WONG is taken to be interested in the shares in which
Mr. YIP is interested.

These shares were beneficially owned by Mr. CHAN Man Wai (“Mr.
CHAN") and his wholly-owned company, Best Active Investments
Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. CHAN is taken to be interested
in the shares held by Best Active Investments Limited. Ms. AU Yim
Bing (“Ms. AU”) is the spouse of Mr. CHAN. Under the SFO, Ms.
AU is taken to be interested in the shares in which Mr. CHAN is
interested.

These shares were beneficially owned by Bright Mind Investments
Limited, which was wholly-owned by Mr. KU Hok Chiu (“Mr. KU”).
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. KU is taken to be interested in the shares
held by Bright Mind Investments Limited. Ms. KU Wai Man (“Ms.
KU”) is the spouse of Mr. KU. Under the SFO, Ms. KU is taken to
be interested in the shares in which Mr. KU is interested.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person
than a director or chief executive of the Company) had
interest or short position in the shares and

lying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on 1 April
2021. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognize
the contributions by certain eligible persons and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and to attract suitable personnel
for the growth and further development of the Group. Subject to
any early termination, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date. The
approximately 6 years.

remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is

Eligible persons include any of the (i) senior management of any
member of the Group; and (i) employees of the Group other than
excluded persons. The selection of the eligible persons and
number of awarded shares to be granted must be recommended
by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board to
become effective.

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, any awarded shares shall
be either (i) existing shares purchased by the trustee of the Share
Award Scheme from the open market (either on-market or off-
market); or (i) new shares to be allotted and issued to the trustee
(which will hold the same on behalf of the selected participant(s))
by the Company pursuant to the general mandate granted by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company from
time to time. Subject to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, in
the event that any awarded shares are to be allotted and issued
as new shares under the general mandate, the Company shall
comply with the relevant Listing Rules when allotting and issuing
any new shares under general mandate and application shall be
made to the Stock Exchange for the granting of the listing of, and
permission to deal in the new shares to be issued at the time of
offering the shares. The Company shall comply with all
requirements of the Listing Rules when making any grant of

awarded shares under the Share Award Scheme.
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Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Board shall not make
any further award which will result in the aggregated number of
awarded shares granted pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
(excluding awarded shares that have been forfeited in accordance
with the Share Award Scheme) exceeding 10% of the total
number of issued shares from time to time. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under
the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the number of issued shares from time to time. As
at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for issue in respect of awards which may be granted
under the Share Award Scheme is 97,602,750,
approximately 9.07% of the Shares (excluding treasury shares) in

representing

issue as at that date.

In relation to a selected participant, subject to the fulfiiment of all
vesting conditions (if any) to the vesting of the awarded shares on
such selected participant, the awarded shares held by the trustee
on behalf of the selected participant shall be vested and
transferred to such selected participant pursuant to the rules of
the Share Award Scheme. The Board shall

discretion to waive the fulflment of any vesting condition. The

have absolute

selected participants are not required to pay any amount of
money as consideration for the vesting of the awarded shares.

The trustee shall not exert any power in respect of the voting
rights (if any) attached to the shares held under the trust. For
further details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 1 April 2021.

On 4 December 2023, the Board approved the grant of an
aggregate of 5,000,000 award shares (the “2023 Award Shares”)
to selected participants who are executive Directors under the
Share Award Scheme, representing approximately 0.465% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.
The grantees are not required to make any payment in respect of
the award. The 2023 Award Shares were satisfied by existing
Shares acquired by the trustee of the Share Award Scheme
through on-market purchases.
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During the year ended 31

December 2024, based on the

Company’s instructions, the trustee of the Share Award Scheme

has purchased a total of 5,000,000 Shares of the Company on

the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of approximately
RMB1,842,000 equivalent and vested during the year to the

grantees under the Share Award Scheme.

The following table sets forth the particular of the movement of

the share awards granted under the Share Award Scheme during

the Year:
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HEZZT-_NNEF+ZA=1T—HLFE R
BARNRIMETR  ROZEFENZITAD
1L B 32 B £ B8 B & ££5,000,0008% & 2 7] {%
n o BREVAETE ARK1,842,0007T « I
RAFERBEETULEBRMDBEGFEITH
BEEA -

FRETAAEERER P LB BFET
B0 1) B 2 5 B R

Number of awarded shares

ERROYE
Outstanding Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled
as at during the during the during the during the Outstanding
1 January year ended year ended year ended year ended as at
2024 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
BE 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
ZECo@mE R-Bo@E R-BoME R-BIMFE RZBCRE BE-Z-NE
Category of Grantees Date of grant Date of vesting -A-B +=ZA=+-B t+=ZA=+-B t+=zZA=+-B t+=zZA=+-B +=ZA=+-H
ERAR ®¥H BEA &R LEERT LEERR EEEXR I EEUR R
Directors
B3
Ms. WENG Peihe 4 December 2023 17 April 2024 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - -
SERL L (Note b) —ZoE
—E-=F mA++H
+-AmA
(Htitn)
Mr. CHEN Zhi Xiong 4 December 2023 17 April 2024 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - - -
REEEE (Note b) —ZoE
—E-=F mA++H
+-AmA
(Htitn)
Mr. WONG Chung Yeung 4 December 2023 17 April 2024 1,000,000 = (1,000,000) - = -
Evitel (Note b) —EomE
—Z-=F mA++H
+-AmA
(Htitn)
Total 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - -
#y
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Notes:

a. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date that the
awarded shares were granted on 4 December 2023 was HK$0.50
per Share.

b. The award shares were vested on 17 April 2024 upon fulfilment of
the performance target based on the net profit of the Company.

C. The estimated fair value of the awarded Shares granted on 4
December 2023 was approximately HK$2,500,000. The fair value of
the awarded Shares granted is measured with reference to the
closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company at the grant
date.

d. For the accounting standard and policy adopted, please refer to note
3.1 to the financial statements on pages 142 to 144 of this report.

e. The weighted average closing price immediately before the vesting
date was HK$0.375.

f. In respect of the Share Award Scheme, the number of share awards
available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Company was
97,602,750 Shares as at 1 January 2024 and 97,602,750 Shares as
at 31 December 2024.

g. The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of awarded
Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024 divided by the weighted average number
of the Shares in issue for the year ended 31 December 2024 is Nil
as there is no outstanding awarded Shares.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 29(a) to the financial statements and in
the section headed “Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, no director nor a connected
entity of a director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party which subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had conducted the following non-
exempt continuing connected transactions which are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed below, the related party transactions disclosed in
note 29 to the financial statements are either fully exempt or do
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in

transactions under Chapter

accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors
were not aware of any transactions requiring disclosure as
connected transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules

except for those disclosed in this report.

(1) Continuing Connected Transactions — CCT
Tenancy Agreements

Meco Group, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, is principally engaged in property investment.
It is owned as to 50% by Mr. CHAN Man Wai, 35% by Mr.
YIP Shu Ming and 15% by Mr. KU Hok Chiu. Dongguan
Well Excellent, a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, is principally engaged in property leasing. It is
wholly owned by HK Well Excellent, an investment holding
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and
owned as to 50% by Mr. CHAN Man Wai, 35% by Mr. YIP
Shu Ming and 15% by Mr. KU Hok Chiu. As Mr. CHAN Man
Wai, Mr. YIP Shu Ming and Mr. KU Hok Chiu are the
controlling shareholders of the Company and executive
directors, each of Meco Group and Dongguan Well Excellent
is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.
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Pursuant to the CCT Tenancy Agreements entered into

between the Group as lessee and Meco Group or (as the

case may be) Dongguan Well Excellent as landlord, the

Group agreed to lease the premises set out below for a

specific term which expired on 31 December 2024. The

leased premises are used for operation of restaurant by the

respective Group member.

Further details in relation to the premises leased from Meco

Group and Dongguan Well Excellent are set out below:

REASEEVERSEBEAN) BEXSEE
H(BFBERAME)RZEE(FRE
E)AUHWCCTHE R Z A EBERE
HEATXAEDE BFEFHER =
E_MEF _A=t—HE®R -B&%
BB ARIKHEMERIEREERE -

ERXSREMR=HENHEYE
MFFIBEEIIWT

S/N Date of Agreement

73 EELEE

(i) Location; and
(i) Use

() % &

(i) A

Total rent payable under
the CCT Tenancy
Agreements (Note 1)
RECCTHEMBENH
HEeRBE W)

Term of lease

AEHK

Terms (Note 2)
FEWi2)

Leases with Meco Group:

AXEREZHEE:

(1) 22 December 2023
“ECZE+ZAZTCH

(i) Units 2101, 2102, 2103, 2105,
2106, 2107 and 2108, Block
H, Expo Square, Dongcheng
District, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

(i) Restaurant

() PEERERETRAELE
BESHE2101 ~ 2102~ 2103
2105 + 2106 * 2107 %2108 %

(i) 28

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED  E'S (R E) ZRRAR A

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024:
RMB1,320,000
—Z-WE-R—RAZE
ke Sl 123
+=-A=+-18
AR 1,320,000

Monthly rent of RMB110,000 is
payable by the Group to

1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024

Meco Group each month. —Z-MNFE-A—RAZ
Such rent is inclusive of —EoME
rental tax and exclusive of +ZA=+-H

water, electricity,
telephone, television, heat,
gas, property management,
cleaning, internet, car park
and indoor facilities
maintenance fees.
AEEABARERERXH
A AR®110,0007T ©
HeaFEHEEHETE ?é
KE BB -EFEER
B RAE MAE 0%
ERE -FRE LRB-
FEBRENRMEZE -
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Total rent payable under

(i) Location; and the CCT Tenancy

(i) Use Agreements (Note 1)
SIN Date of Agreement () %% RECCTHERBEEMMN  Term of lease Terms (Note 2)
35 ELEE (i) A# HEeBBEW21) HEHRR FH(Wit2)
2 22 December 2023 (i) Unit 1 on Level 6, Shenzhen 1 January 2024 to Monthly rent of RMB109,000 is 1 January 2024 to
—T-=%+-fA-+=H Cinema, Zhonghai Commercial, 31 December 2024: payable by the Group to 31 December 2024

1 Xinyuan Road, Luohu District, RMB1,308,000 Meco Group each month.  —Z-WF&—A—HZ
Shenzhen, the PRC —TZNE-A-HZE Such rent is inclusive of —E-QmE

(i) Restaurant —Z-mF rental tax and exclusive of +-A=+-H

() PEFINESRNERISR +-A=+—-8: water, electricity,

FEE R EReE1E
(i) £E

AR %1,308,0007C telephone, television, heat,
gas, property management,
cleaning, internet, car park
and indoor facilities
maintenance fees.

AREERBARNEREEY
4 A 78 AR %109,0007T ©
ZHeBFEReK  BF
BEKE BB BEE-
BRE KRB MAE-
NEERE FRE LS
B FEBREARIGE

Lease with Dongguan Well Excellent:
HRZEECHE:
() 22 December 2023 (i) Units 3106, 3107, 3108, 4106, 1 January 2024 to Monthly rent of RMB91,000 is 1 January 2024 to
—ZZ=4+ZA=+=H 4107 and 4108, Block H, Expo 31 December 2024: payable by the Group to 31 December 2024
Square, Dongcheng District, RMB1,092,000 Dongguan Well Excellent “E-ME-A-HZ
Dongguan City, Guangdong —Z-WE-R—HZE gach month. Such rent is —Z-QmE
Province, the PRC —ToNE inclusive of rental tax and +ZA=+-H
(i) Restaurant +-A=+-8: exclusive of water,
() PEERERZTRAE 18 AR #1,002,0007 electricity, telephone,
EHHE3106 ~ 3107 ~ 3108 television, heat, gas,
4106 + 41072 4108E property management,
(i) 2 cleaning, internet, car park
and indoor facilities
maintenance fees.
AEEERBARRTHES
A AR 91,0007 © %
HeaEHe® BEFE
BKE -TE EFE B
XEEE FRE LA
B FEBREANREH
Notes: M &t
(1) The rent was arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between (1) #ZHESEZFLAFEFILL2B%ZE

BRRONBRETTSHEHSERE -

the parties and determined by reference to the prevailing
market rent of the premises.
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) The above CCT Tenancy Agreements expired on 31
December 2024. On 20 December 2024, the Group renewed
most of the above CCT Tenancy Agreements based on
business needs for a term from 1 January 2025 to 31
December 2025. As all relevant percentage ratios are less
than 5% and the aggregate annual rental payment is less
than HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the
CCT Tenancy Agreements dated 20 December 2024
constitute de minimis transactions pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1)
of the Listing Rules and are fully exempt.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions
undertaken by the Group were entered into () in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on
normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole, as required in
Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ernst & Young have issued their unmodified letter containing
the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board confirmed that auditors have issued an
unqualified letter in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rule, containing their confirmation that nothing has
come to their attention that caused them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions as disclosed by the
Group in the annual report (i) have not been approved by
the Board; (ii) were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions; and (i) have exceeded the annual cap as set
by the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the Year.

PENSION SCHEMES

The employees employed by the Group in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.

The Group contributed RMB54.8 million to the above mentioned
schemes for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
employees for the relevant year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
were less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the Year and
aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for
the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
recommended by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the
directors are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics. The Company has adopted
Share Award Scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible
employees, details of the scheme are set out on pages 71 to 74
in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on

pre-emptive rights under the

a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities. If the shareholders of the
Company have any doubt in relation to any relief from taxation by
holding the Company’s securities, they are advised to consult their
own professional advisers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25%

of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the

is publicly available to the

public as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the directors or substantial shareholders of the Company
or any of their respective associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKING

Mr. CHAN Man Wai, Mr. YIP Shu Ming, Mr. KU Hok Chiu, Best
Active Investments Limited, Current Success Investments Limited
and Bright Mind Investments Limited, have given an irrevocable
non-compete undertaking in favour of the Group pursuant to
which each of them
severally undertaken, among other matters, not to, directly or
indirectly, carry on, invest in or be engaged in any business which

irrevocably, unconditionally, jointly and

would or may compete with the business of the Group. Details of
the Non-compete Undertaking have been set out in the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus.

The Non-compete Undertaking has become effective from the
Listing Date.
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The Company has received the confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their compliance with the terms of the
Non-compete Undertaking from the Listing Date to the date of
this report.

The
compliance with and enforcement of the terms of the Non-

independent non-executive directors had reviewed the
compete Undertaking by the Controlling Shareholders from the
Listing Date to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that the
Directors for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective
office, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through

their own fraud or dishonesty.
The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and

costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors of the Company.

DEBENTURES

The Group did not issue any debentures during the Year.
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Award Scheme disclosed herein, no

equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting policies,
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group and
the consolidated financial statements and results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

There has been no change of auditor of the Company in the
preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
WENG Peihe
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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Ernst & Young

P>
EY:

To the shareholders of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

979 King's Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tang
(China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 213, which

Palace and its
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024,
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then

and of its consolidated financial
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER
Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our

audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these

matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued) FAEETEE®
How our audit addressed the ZEHEEETHR
Key audit matter key audit matter BREENEE 40 fa] & ¥ 1Y
Revenue recognition W 2 1B R
The Group generates revenue We have tested the design, EEENKEEENRE BFEEARABEANK
mainly from its restaurant implementation and operating REBRPEARKEMN ZHERNEDEE
operations in Hong Kong and effectiveness of the key (B BE X EHENRE B
the People’s Republic of China  controls relating to revenue % EEEEHEERE REMERNM - EF
(the “PRC”) at the point in time recognition. We also LHEPHNMENM(—MK NETEEBEBEE
when control of the asset is performed audit procedures EEXNEYRE AFROXZIHE

transferred to the customer,
generally on the delivery of the
goods. The majority of the
sales of the Group were cash
sales and credit card sales.
The Group also issued prepaid
cards to customers whereby
customers would deposit
certain amounts of cash in
advance in prepaid cards
which would be utilised for
future food consumption.

There is a risk of improper
revenue recognition which may
lead to a material
misstatement on revenue.
Accordingly, we identified this
matter as a key audit matter.

Relevant disclosures are
included in notes 3.1 and 5 to
the financial statements.

including cut-off test for the
transactions near the year end
and test of transactions by
vouching, on a sampling basis,
to the sales summary, sales
invoices and general ledger
postings. In addition, we
performed analytical review to
consider unusual trends that
could indicate material
misstatement to revenue.
Regarding the prepaid
customers, we checked to the
utilisation of card balances in
the sales system and general
ledger postings for proper
revenue recognition upon the
consumption of food and
beverages.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued) BRETEE@E)
How our audit addressed the ZEEEBTHRRE
Key audit matter key audit matter BEENEE 40 {r] BE ¥ /Y

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had property, plant and
equipment of RMB82,554,000
and right-of-use assets of
RMB187,056,000. The Group’s
management performed
impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets for
identified restaurants with
impairment indicators by
estimating the recoverable
amounts of their property,
plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets based on value-
in-use calculation. Impairment
losses of approximately
RMB2,193,000 and
RMB4,654,000 have been
recorded to write down the
carrying amounts of certain
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets,
respectively, to their estimated
recoverable amounts during
the year. Significant judgement
was involved in the
assessment of the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant
and equipment and right-of-
use assets of those
restaurants, including
assumptions on the budgeted
gross margin of the respective
restaurants and discount rates.

Relevant disclosures are
included in notes 3.2, 13 and
14 to the financial statements.

Our audit procedures included
evaluating the Group’s policies
and procedures in identifying
impairment indicators and
assessing management’s
significant assumptions
adopted in the cash flow
forecasts by reviewing the
Group’s business plan and
evaluating the growth rate by
comparing to market data. In
addition, we involved our
internal valuation specialists to
assist us with our assessment
of the methodology and the
discount rates used to
determine the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant
and equipment and right-of-
use assets of those
restaurants. We also assessed
certain inputs of the cash flow
forecasts by comparing to the
underlying records of the
Group.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other

information. The other information comprises the information

included in the Annual other than the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Report,

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= () ZRRAR A

BREFERETHEMESR

BERRESTHHMEEAR - HMMEEE
RHERNFEREPNES BFREEE

MBERREBEEZNZEERE -

BEEHRAMBRRNBAERL TRER
fiES  BEHUTHAMEERRTMAER

REBTHHEAMBRERNET  BENE
TEMEEMES  ElERES %J’?Em
EEREEKE ﬁ?ﬁ%&i’%ﬂi EFHEFERERE

AT T AR Y IE/RTEEK}K%W%M\?TE

EREHRNBR ERESELATHI
& ZZD%%—%?JZ%/HJ‘EEE HFHEERER -
EEFERERETE -EEHFM BERE
Ff s -

EERAECUBHRRERENEE
ERREZHAERBEEBSETMAGEM

MEBEAMBHRELARELRAIGE 2HE
RERBEEMBRRUNCKEE M BRKRIE
HEEMAFHRR YEBREERAR/RH
REMBRRAVENANEE  AEERS
MBEBER T EFEARRFRERMERNE
RRERM



RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial

statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient

appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible

for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and

have complied with relevant ethical requirements
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.
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B3 7 A% BB

BREERERE
1F &)

MBEBRARENE

e HERAUBHERNEEIHTA
RBNAR  BREREE ARGEHH
BRELAARREBIZMER -

o FEIMMITRER UWERER &
SENEBXXEBEMTHEEMNR
REMBEENEFRE UHESHUK
WRIZKEBAERREHER - HMA
RS EENEBERRAKERAMH
TTHES T - R SEFE R ARE
E2HMEME-

BREMERIN EEEBRZZEQBR T
FMEAHLE BHLTHEMERNESER
EF BRESFEZPHE G AREG T
fa] ERERFE -

EERENBRZLZEERIER FTHESE
REeBBABYMMNEREXERER WHE
B RBE A BMERAS Y ETESE
THEREBERMEMER  UREBEAK
BT - BIE K & E &1 B & AT EA
178 o

RHEBEEZZEQBBNEERT  BEHEW
Lt £ 75 TK%%?QWW#&%%E’J%#%RE
Z-EAMBKERENFH B FEZHUE
RE M ELEIR Kﬂf#&é%%ﬁ?mﬁ
ARARBEEEEH AEHEEFENER
TR ERMEESHRETEBRRER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@@i%@%ﬂﬁ’ A&
RETERERETBBEZEE -

=0

fisig

¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2024

91

NS



92

Independent Auditor’s Report
33 57 #% B e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ching Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2025

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= () ZRRAR A
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
G iR fn

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ST-_NE+-_A=+—HILEE

2024 2023
—E-NmE —TZ=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k23 ART AR¥EF T
Revenue U %5 5 1,021,063 1,122,911
Other income H A I A & 23,298 33,167
Cost of inventories consumed BEEFEKAR (346,640) (378,692)
Staff costs BT KA 6 (422,729) (437,306)
Depreciation of items of property, plant % - /= KR EE B
and equipment ne 13 (29,574) (33,862)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEENE 14(a) (52,491) (52,231)
Utilities and consumables N HER M R X OB (52,575) (65,741)
Rental and related expenses e REBRX (81,250) (33,412)
Other expenses HAth 5l &2 (103,721) (104,299)
Finance costs Bl & kAN 7 (10,230) (10,774)
Change in fair value of a financial asset & A F{EFT AEBZEH
at fair value through profit or loss TREENATEE (5,517) 2,065
Share of losses of joint ventures JEfh& & R EE (1,137) (3,572)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BAT(EB|)RF 6 (11,503) 48,254
Income tax expense Frig ik 10 (7,401) (5,990)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEE(BR)ER (18,904) 42,264
Attributable to: EERN
Owners of the Company KARIHEER A (18,924) 41,692
Non-controlling interests IEFE IR = 20 572
(18,904) 42,264
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE AREEERERES
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY AEHEZER
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (E518) B 12
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EXREE(ARE D) (1.76) 3.87

FREBBREZFIBERP B HRRME115 B

note 11 to the financial statements. 7 o

Details of the dividends proposed for the year are disclosed in

¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

f 0 2 WL R R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NMF+_A=+T—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR¥EFTT
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A E B (B518) 38 A (18,904) 42,264
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME H b2 (F5i8) W&
Other comprehensive income that may be  RBE& BB AJEE#H D 48
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  EEFMEME2E
periods: &=
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINEB 2
foreign operations fEH =5 1,636 175
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that RERBBEE TS EHN
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in DEEBRmMEM
subsequent periods: 2HE (B8 ks
Financial asset at fair value through other RAFEFAEMEE
comprehensive income: Wmz & rEE:
Changes in fair value NV E e E (2,441) 1,596
Income tax effect FIREE - 610 (399)
(1,831) 1,197
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME ZAEEHM2E (FE),
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Wi B (195) 1,372
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FEREE(ER)
FOR THE YEAR W= (19,099) 43,636
Attributable to: EERN
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEETEZ RN (19,119) 43,064
Non-controlling interests IR E R 20 572
(19,099) 43,636

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= () ZRRAR A



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

% B 9 B IR Ot

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
o3 AR® T AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB k&R E 13 82,554 79,754
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 187,056 205,855
Investments in joint ventures "HESERA 16 18,869 17,906
Financial asset at fair value through other 22 F{E & A H fth 2 E
comprehensive income WEH R EE 17 21,833 24,274
Financial asset at fair value through profit &2 BT ABREN S
or loss B A E 17 - 26,209
Prepayments and deposits BNRBRRS 19 21,037 41,400
Deferred tax assets B IEE E 23 17,190 20,062
Total non-current assets IEMEEERTE 348,539 415,460
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 28,130 27,070
Trade and other receivables and B 5 & E IR &
prepayments T 5K 18 19 34,856 39,920
Due from joint ventures i =N 16 1,187 1,649
Tax recoverable A Uy [B] % IE 161 264
Financial asset at fair value through profit &A1 EEF AR
or loss wE E 17 19,274 —
Cash and cash equivalents HehkBReEE 20 328,281 321,374
Total current assets BB EARRE 411,889 390,277
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables g5 &k H i pE T3R8 21 340,843 331,458
Due to related companies FE ) A 3 N B BUR 22 118 658
Lease liabilities MEBE 14(b) 47,429 55,439
Tax payable FES B IR 500 600
Total current liabilities mE B ERE 388,890 388,155
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 22,999 2,122
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERARBAERE
LIABILITIES 371,538 417,582
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEHRE 14(b) 162,488 171,640
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAR 23 3,838 4,991
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 166,326 176,631
NET ASSETS EEFHE 205,212 240,951
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the ZAATEE AELES
Company
Issued capital 21T 24 45,821 45,821
Reserves 1 25 159,864 193,763
205,685 239,584
Non-controlling interests FE = I i = (473) 1,367
Total equity B 205,212 240,951
YIP Shu Ming CHAN Man Wai
% 45 B R X &
Director Director
EZE EF
% ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A HE AR B R

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ST-_NWE+-_A=+—HILEE

@ Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_2-_=f+-A=+—-RLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

(:\ KRREEARE
57 Fair value
Share Statutory reserve of Exchange Non-
Issued premium general  financial assets Other fluctuation Retained controlling
capital account reserve at FVOCl resenve resenve profits Total interests  Total equity
BATEFA
Hp2ENE
HeREEL
BEARE  ROEER Ae-REE ATERE ARk EXRBEE RBEH & FERER L3
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
3 ARETT  ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARETRT ARBTR ARETRT  ARBTn ARETT  ARETR
(ote 24) (ote 2) (ote 25)
(Wit4) (Witzs) (Witzs)
At 1 January 2023 RZF==5-F-R 45,821 17,801 32,760 5,768 74,326 5,069 63,417 244,942 795 245,731
Prolfi for the year EREF = = = = - - 41692 41692 572 42,264
Other comprehensive income for the year: EREBEENE
Changes in fair value of a financial asset BATEIALHR2ERES
at fair value through other SHEEILTH
comprehensive income, net of tax g B = = = 1,197 = = = 1,197 = 1,197
Exchange differences on translation BEENERENER
of foreign operations - - - - - 175 - 175 - 175
Total comprefhensive income for the year ERRENGEE = = = 1,197 = 175 41,69 43,084 572 4363
Final 2022 dividend “EZERERS = = = = = = (24.211) (24.211) = (24.211)
Interim 2023 special dividend ZZoCERERRIRS - - - - - - [24211) [24211) - [24211)
Deregistration of subsidiaries HHEERT = = (1,347) = = - 1347 - - -
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=%+-A=1-H 45,821 17,801° 31,413 6,955* 74,326° 5,284 58,034 239,584 1,367 240,951

96
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Year ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_ST-_NE+-_A=+—HILEE

BE-Z_NME+=-A=+—HLEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADRAREARG
Fair value
Share Statutory reserve of Exchange Non-
Issued premium general financial assets Other fluctuation Retained controlling
capital account reserve at FVOCI reserve reserve profits Total interests  Total equity
RATERA
E2ERE
HhemgEL
BRORA  BOEME AE-REFE OTERE Atfif EXRDER REEH & FERER f2 3
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
G2 ARMTT AR¥TR ARMTR AR¥TR ARMTR ARBTn ARMTR ARMTn ARETR  ARETR
(note 24) (note 25) (note 25)
(Hitz) (Hit2s) (Hit2s)
At 1 January 2024 RZZ-PmE-F-R 45,821 17,801 31,413 6,955 74,326 5,234 58,034 239,584 1,367 240,951
Loss for the year FRER = = = = = = (18,924 (18,924 20 (18,904)
Other comprenensive (oss)income for the year:  FAEM2E (H8) /i :
Changes in fair value of a financial asset RATEF AL RENGS
at fair value through other SREEZATE
comprehensive income, et of tax Be T = - - (1,831) - - - (1,831) - (1,831)
Exchange differences on translation BERNERENER
of foreign operations = = = = = 1,636 = 1,636 - 1,636
Total comprenensive (loss)/income for the year ERREBE)/hBEE - - - (1,831) - 1,636 (18,924) (19,119) 20 (19,099)
Share repurchased R EE % = = = = (1,842 = = (1,842 = (1,842
Award of repurchased share under BERSD £ B AR BORG
Share Award Scheme % = = = = 1,842 = = 1,842 - 1,842
Dividends paid to non-controling interests SfERERRS - - - - - - - - (1,860) (1,860)
Final 2023 cividend “E-SERHRE - - - - - - (14780) (14780) - (14,780)
Deregistration of subsidiaries HEHERR - - (26) - - - % - - -
131 Decomber 2024 R-Z-mEt=A=t-R GE TR NWF SIS SE M3 056 Wy sz
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ERBERFPFEEREVBBMERFPNES

RMB159,864,000

(2023: RMB193,763,000)

statement of financial position.

in the consolidated

AR 159,864,000 (CTE - =4 : A
K #193,763,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
e aR

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NMF+_A=+T—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt &t AR¥T AR®T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETBHFRERERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax AT (E18) i T (11,503) 48,254
Adjustments for: P
Finance costs A& AR 7 10,230 10,774
Interest income A B U A 5 (2,199) (3,461)
Depreciation of items of property, plant % - B &= & & 518
and equipment BIE 6 29,574 33,862
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6 52,491 52,231
Gain on revision of lease terms arising IT—H%SI HHEHAE
from changes in the non-cancellable % B ) H A0 E B
periods of leases T 2 e 6 (1,804) (11,884)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 6 - 211
Loss on disposal of items of property, LEME  BE MK
plant and equipment #HIE B 2 EE 6 630 249
Impairment of property, plant and Y3 BB R HEIE
equipment ENCEIE] 6 2,193 3,314
Impairment of right-of-use assets 155 FA 4 & & ﬁ 6 4,654 —
Impairment of an investment in a joint H—HIEEARE QR
venture B 6 816 1,573
Impairment of an amount due from a R —EE & RFK
joint venture IH 2 B 1E 6 727 461
Change in fair value of a financial asset 1% A F{E T A Bz
at fair value through profit or loss PRMEEMNATE
2 6 5,517 (2,065)
Share of losses of joint ventures JE{E& &N TF)EIE 16 1,137 3,572
Equity-settled share award scheme IR A 45 B AR 1D B2 &
expense X 26 1,360 482
93,823 137,573
(Increase)/decrease in inventories g Egm (1,060) 12,263
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other fﬁ 5‘; &El ﬂﬂJE WK I8 &
receivables and prepayments SEENE O]
m (g m) 25,427 (2,411)
Increase in trade and other payables 8 5 K H th & 5 5k I8
2 0 8,024 19,053
Increase in amounts due from joint B A & N F B
ventures 0 (242) (1,105)
Decrease in amounts due to related FE 1< B 22 2 B 3R I8
companies NeRen (540) (467)
Cash generated from operations TEEHMERE 125,432 164,906
Interest paid B R B - (163)
Interest element of lease payments HENF Zﬂ ERa 27(0b) (10,230) (10,611)
Income taxes paid BN ER (5,069) (6,308)
Net cash flows generated from KEEHAMEREME
operating activities iRt 110,133 147,824

TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) R BER L




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HaBlenmaE

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_NF+_A=+T—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF ZEZ=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 AR®ET T AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHFBEHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B W F & 4,315 6,269
Purchases of items of property, BEME BENMZE
plant and equipment 18 H 13 (35,156) (85,552)
Advance of a loan/capital injection to @H BREEARE
joint ventures N (2,922) (942)
Decrease in pledged time deposits E}fﬁﬁmﬂﬁﬁ SOR - 70,682
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from % & &&h (FrR) FT1&
investing activities ReEREFHE (33,763) 40,457
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank loans EER ﬁ%%’\ 27(b) - (25,830)
Dividends paid BT (14,780) (48,422)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 21t ?rH Hx%ﬁlﬂ
interests (1,860) =
Principal portion of lease payments HMEMNRZEAESEH D 271 (53,883) (47,849)
Net cash flows used in financing activities B E/EBFTAR S RE
F R (70,523) (122,101)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBEEEEEN
CASH EQUIVALENTS FRE 5,847 66,180
Cash and cash equivalents at FYIzRe MRS FE
beginning of year 321,374 254,987
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [E X% &) > 52 2 %58
net 1,060 207
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZAERAEEE
AT END OF YEAR 328,281 321,374
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HReRHREZEHHZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and bank balances e RIRITH R 20 206,055 182,848
Non-pledged time deposits with original & WK R 2 HH DR
maturity of less than three months =& A & = K E H
when acquired 7R 20 122,226 138,526
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in REEAR L R E RV
the consolidated statement of cash Ve RBESEE
flows 328,281 321,374
4% ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 i 2 Bl wE

31 December 2024
RZZEZNMFE+=_A=+—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law as an exempted company with limited liability, and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office
address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands,
and its principal place of business is located at Unit 3, 10th
Floor, Greenfield Tower, Concordia Plaza, No. 1 Science
Museum Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in
restaurant operations and food production.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

NEEH

EE(PEERERARTERARAD
RIBBAFRDENAESHESTMK L
BHREBERLG EROREBEE
REMAERRB(BRT]) £/ &R
A B B 5 ffft #% = B& (12 72 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands -
MEFEEEMBUNEBENERS
fE B R 5 B % FE1OME3E o

FRA AEEIEREEREERR
A o
fit B A E B & #

TEMBARAFEOT

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ equity interest
establishment registered share indirectly attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
AR BROLER/ FRABEEERE
£ RYRE&EE it R A Bk TERH
2024 2023
ZBoNE —_T-=F
Beijing Haoyuan Tang Palace Seafood ~ PRC/Mainland China RMBS3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Co., Ltd.”" e/ HEAL 3,000,000A R # BEEE

EtRPREE=EERBERAA"
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. REIER#E)

MEBASMES (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued ordinary/
registered share

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly attributable

Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
EMEL/ BROTLER/ ERAEEEERE
a8 BIREE M R A Bl TETER
2024 2023
ZBomE -—T-=F
Beijing Mingzu Tang Palace Seafood PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Co., Ltd.” mE /BN 5,000,000 A & g ¥
TRREESBEHERAR"
Beijing New Century Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China RMBS3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Seafood Restaurant Co., Ltd.”" R/ E A 3,000,000A K # KEEE
FRFtEESEHGERDF
Beijing Well Excellent Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China HK$3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
F8B Co., Ltd.” mE/FER 3,000,000/ 7 A
TREEESRRARAA"
Beijing Well Excellent Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Seafood Restaurant Co., Ltd.” R E R 5,000,000 & # KEEE
TRAEERREHBERDOA
Chengdu Tang Palace Social Place PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Catering Management Co., Ltd.”" B/ BN 100,000 A R #& MR
KBEBNEERERFERAR"
Chengdu Well Excellent Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Catering Management Co., Ltd.” R E R 100,000 K #& KEER

RBREESERERERRA"

¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 1 O 1
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 i 2% B

31 December 2024
RZZEZNMFE+=_A=+—H

e

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1.

~NEERE)

MEBASMES (&)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued ordinary/
registered share

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly attributable

Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
EMEL/ BROTLER/ KN R EESRE
a8 BIREE M R A Bl TETER
2024 2023
ZBomE -—T-=F
Dongguan Expo Tang Palace Seafood ~ PRC/Mainland China HK$3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Co., Ltd.” mE /BN 3,000,000/ 7T g ¥
RUEEEESREMERAR"
Hangzhou Well Excellent Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China RMBS3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Seafood Restaurant Co., Ltd.”" R/ E A 3,000,000A K # KEEE
MMNEEESBRHERDA
Prosperous Tang F&B Group Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 100 Intangible asset holding
BERREEERAA &5 100,000% 7 REEVEE
Shanghai Changning Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China HK$3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Seafood Restaurant Co., Ltd.”" FE /R E A 3,000,000/ Tt KeEE
TEREERRERBROA
Shanghai Honggiao Tang Palace Seafood PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Co., Ltd.” mE /BN 6,000,000 A F 1 TE R
TRARERRERBRAA
Shanghai Kang Feng Food Co., Ltd.”  PRC/Mainland China US$150,000 100 100 Food production
LERERRERAT B/ E R 150,000% 7T RmEE

102 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED & (R ) 2R A S



Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. REIER#E)

MEBASMES (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly attributable

Issued ordinary/
registered share

Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
EMEL/ BROTLER/ KN R EESRE
a8 BIREE M R A& Bl TETER
2024 2023
ZBomE -—T-=F
Shanghai Minhang Mixc Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
F&B Co., Ltd.”" hE/REAN 100,000A E % BeEsE
TERTBRERERBRAA
Shanghai Pudong Tang Palace Seafood ~PRC/Mainland China US$150,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Co., Ltd.” R/ E A 150,000 7T KEEE
TERRERRERBEROA
Shanghai Putuo Tang Palace F&B Co.,  PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Ltd.” hE/REAN 500,000A R % BEEE
LBERESERERAR™
Shanghai Yunshang Tang Palace F&B PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Co., Ltd.” hE /R E R 100,000A &% Lege
LBELEESEHBERAA™
Shanghai Zhabei Tang Palace Seafood ~ PRC/Mainland China HK$1,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Restaurant Co., Ltd.” mE /BN 1,000,00058 7T TE R
LBRLESBEHERAR"
Suzhou Guzehui Tang Palace Co., Ltd.” PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
NG REEEERERAT" hE /R E R 100,000A &% Gege
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 i 2% B

31 December 2024
RZZEZNMFE+=_A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1.

A TR )

MEBASMES (&)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued ordinary/
registered share

Percentage of
equity interest

indirectly attributable

Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
EMEL/ BRATLER/ KN R EESRE
£ RYRE bR R A Bk TEER
2024 2023
ZBomE -—T-=F
Shenzhen Well Excellent Tang Palace PRC/Mainland China HK$3,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
F&B Co., Ltd.” RE /R 3,000,000% 7T REER
RYGEREE=RRERDA
Tang Dian (Shanghai) Catering PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 70 70 Restaurant operations
Management Co., Ltd.” R/ E A 5,000,000A & # KEER
EH(EBERERERAR"
Tang Dian Yueshu (Shanghai) Catering ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 70 70 Restaurant operations
Management Co., Ltd.”" mE /R 100,000 A & # M BgE
BB (LB ERERFRAA
Tang Palace Social Place Catering Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
Limited BE 10,000,000% 70 GeEaE

EE N BERBRAT

104 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED % (R ) 12 iR A S
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

~NEERE)

MEBASMES (&)

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ equity interest
establishment registered share indirectly attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
EMEL/ BRATLER/ ERAEEEERE
a8 BIRE £ R A& Bl TETER
2024 2023
ZBomE -—T-=F
Tang Palace Trading (Shanghai) PRC/Mainland China US$2,100,000 100 100 Retail and wholesale
Co., Ltd.” mE/FER 2,100,000% 7t trading
ENRE5 (L8 BRAF" TERREES
Sanheshun Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.”* PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 — Procurement
ZAEES (LB ERAR mE/ AR 1,000,000 A & # B

enterprises under the PRC law.

*k

(wholly owned by corporation) under the PRC law.

disclosed above are for identification purposes only.

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

These subsidiaries are registered as limited liabilities company

The English company names of the Company’s subsidiaries

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the

results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the

net assets of the Group. Details of other subsidiaries had

not been included as, in the opinion of the directors, they

did not have any material impact on these financial

statements.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for certain financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

MBEE )
EHEEE)
b) EMANRHEFEEZEN: R
(€ AEBMEERREERERE-

B ARz M |ER T E AR R4
RzBEHERE 8 - Zzes
BR-MERAZEEBASERE
ZHIEE BRESEE AR XL HEELR
BAR BEEZZEHEKLSL-

1B MO E 2 [ Y s ) & AR RKER
FERARESAREA ARIEER
o BEHBEEBOFERES L
EHRLREBER - MAESEARRZE
EREBE #m WA XHURER
SERBERARAZARZABZRER
EORGEERARBEIEHE-

=B RIERET E XAl =18
ZHRIERRER —HLZHEAE - [
AEBEEEMEENAEFNKREY
Re-WBARMBEAERER ZEHORE
BREHNR) AR H AMK-

¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 1 07

NS



e

e

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 i 2% B

31 December 2024
RZZEZNMFE+=_A=+—H

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and
any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or

share of components previously

retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure
the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate occurring from the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

(Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments.
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Accordingly, the

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did
not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they

become effective.

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidliaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’
Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2026

g Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2027

o No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new
defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note
and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of
information in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1
are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but
widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS
18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18
on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other
HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period,
an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements
available for public use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier
application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a
financial liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial assets with
environmental, social and governance and other similar
contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with non-
recourse features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to the
classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
transaction involving assets that do not constitute
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences
accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 171 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7
(and the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14
and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in
other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the
referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or
loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of
HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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(Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of
the investor, which removes the inconsistency with the
requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of
the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
where exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting
less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as
part of the Group’s investments in joint ventures.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value of
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-
generating unit’s value-in-use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired assets.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

3.1
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity and debt investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

3.1
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)

(i

(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements The shorter of the period of the
respective lease and 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and 20%—33%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20%—25%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Trademarks, franchises, licences and concession right

Purchased trademarks, franchises, licences and concession
right are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

3.1
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@)

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2—10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead) 31 FEETEHR®)

Leases (Continued) HE 2

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of warehouse that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value,
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurerment

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations

that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Company could be

required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to

impairment under the general

approach and they are

classified within the following stages for measurement of

ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified

approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to related companies, lease liabilities
and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (trade and other payables and interest-
bearing bank borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point

in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Commission income is recognised when the services have
been rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. Further
details of which are given in note 26 to the financial
statements.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfiled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had
not been modified, if the original terms of the award are
met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar,
while these financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s presentation currency. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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3.1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of the subsidiaries operate outside
Mainland China are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of the subsidiaries operate outside
Mainland China which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test.
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3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group depreciates the different classes of property,
plant and equipment on a straight-line basis at applicable
depreciation rates over the estimated useful life. The useful
life is estimated with reference to the wear and tear history
of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful life
reflects the directors’ estimate of the periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of
the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The Group determines whether property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are impaired when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of
the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use. The
calculation of the fair values less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
price less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit using key assumptions such
as growth rate and budgeted gross margin and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Further details are given in notes 13
and 14 to the financial statements.
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3.2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of unlisted equity and debt investments

The Group determines the fair values of unlisted equity and
debt investments based on quoted market prices whenever
possible. If such quoted market prices are not available or an
active market does not exist, the Group determines the fair
values based on internally developed models which make use
of market parameters, such as net assets of the underlying
investments. Any changes in these parameters can affect the
estimates of the fair values of these investments. The Group
classifies the fair values of the unlisted equity and debt
investments as Level 3. The fair values of the unlisted equity
and debt investments at 31 December 2024 were
RMB21,833,000 (2023: RMB24,274,000) and RMB19,274,000
(2023: RMB26,209,000), respectively. Further details are
included in notes 17 and 31 to the financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on geographical areas and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(i) the Southern China region;

(i) the Eastern China region;

(i)  the Northern China region; and

(iv)  the Western China region.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except
that certain interest income, share of losses of joint
ventures, change in fair value of a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss, unallocated expenses and
finance costs (other than interest on lease liabilities) are
excluded from such measurement.

Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

Information about major customers

There was no revenue from customers individually
contributing over 10% to the total revenue of the Group.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment
below:

information about the business

is presented

4.

KETHE

EB 2o BERZINWT

Northern China Eastern China Southern China Western China Total
PELH FEED FEEH FEED @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“B-ME -Z--% ZB-ME -F--F ZB-ME -T--F ZB-ME -FT--f ZB-ME -F-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETT AREFTR ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue 1otz 5 2B A75)
Sales to external customers NPEEHE 263,873 275,293 352,037 391,659 282,163 316,056 122,990 139,903 1,021,063 1,122,911
Inter-segment sales PEHEHE = = 76,253 87,098 - = - = 76,253 87,098
263,873 275,293 428,290 478,757 282,163 316,056 122,990 139903 1,097,316 1,210,009
Reconciliation: bo/
Elimination of inter-segment sales 7 357 #45 & # (76,253) (87,008)
Revenue K 1,021,063 1,122,911
Segment results PHEE 24,142 38,097 (4,888) 27,610 30,241 29,704 561 7,082 50,056 102,493
Reconcilation: b/
Interest income MEMRA 349 360
Share of losses of joint ventures {5 A 2R FBE (1,137) (3572)
Change in fair value of a financial 2 F Bz AR
asset at fair value through SREAEHATE
profit or loss g (5517) 2,065
Unallocated expenses APBRX (55,254) (52,929)
Finance costs (other than BARA(FRE
interest on lease liabilties) HEREHL) - (169)
(Loss)profit before tax WA (54R) /7 (11,503) 48254
Other segment information: ~ Eft 5 H&#
Depreciation of items of property, %1% - BE R &
plant and equipment BETE 5,456 4,154 12,019 11,445 6,387 11,680 5,712 6,583 29,574 33,862
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ BEEENE 17,881 17,051 19,033 21,738 13,089 10,922 2,488 2,520 52,491 52,231
Impairment of property, plant ~ #1% - BER&ELZ
and equipment HE = = 450 = = = 1,743 3314 2,193 3314
Impairment of right-of-use assets £ F3E & & 2 & = = 2,357 = - = 2,297 = 4,654 =
Amortisation of intanghble assets &/ & E# - = = = = 211 = = - 211
Capital expenditure* BARY 12,342 9,821 11,963 17,307 9,744 3439 1,107 4,985 35,156 35,552

*

equipment and intangible assets.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For management purposes, segment revenue and segment
results are the two key indicators provided to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about the
resource allocation and to assess performance. No segment
asset and liability information is presented as, in the opinion
of the directors, such information is not a key indicator
provided to the Group’s chief operating decision maker.

The Group’s revenue arises from restaurant operations and
food production.

Geographical information

All of the Group’s operations are located in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), including Hong Kong. The
Group’s revenue from external customers and all of its non-
current assets are located in the PRC, including Hong

Notes to the Financial Statements
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BEDBER ()

REEME  "HMKRERDBEER
HAEBTELERARERLERD
M&ﬁ&“%%ﬁmmkhT =
R ARSI MEERABEMILIE
kﬁ%$%l1% BERREZER
BE Al E2REFER -

AEENKEFEZEREEREERR
DDEE"

REEH

AEERBERERBHUNFEAR
HME(THE]) - BREEE - AEEX
BONREPHKREREMBIRBE
EBURTE BHEEE-

Kong.
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME W & H i A
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REBHKRZSTWOT
2024 2023
—E U4 —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AREET T
Revenue from contracts with customers & & 494 25
Restaurant operations BEEE 1,021,063 1,122,911
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31 December 2024
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=

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued) 5.

m&E+_-_A=+—H

Revenue from contracts with customers

(1)

Disaggregated revenue information

WEREMWAE)
EREHKE

() DHEHBEH

2024 2023
—E_omE —EZ=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARET T
Type of goods or services ERSRBEER
Revenue from Chinese restaurant FEERELE R
operations and total revenue from EFPEAW B
contracts with customers 1,021,063 1,122,911
Geographical markets i & %
Northern China H B 4L 3 263,873 275,293
Eastern China B 3R T 352,037 391,659
Southern China B g 282,163 316,056
Western China R B 7 B 122,990 139,903
Total revenue from contracts with EEAEHK B
customers 1,021,063 1,122,911
Timing of revenue recognition U 2 7 AR A A
At a point in time RE— e, 1,021,063 1,122,911
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued) 5, WaERHEMWAE
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EESHWEE)
()  Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) () DUz EX(E)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TRINERFE K= ER D I

contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in BRFEENSRENEER
the segment information:
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR®ETF T
External customers IEEF 1,021,063 1,122,911
Intersegment sales o EP e B 5 76,253 87,098
1,097,316 1,210,009
Intersegment adjustments and 53 B FH 5 2 % 4 8
eliminations (76,253) (87,098)
Total revenue from contracts with EFEEHK =B
customers 1,021,063 1,122,911

TRETRBRERVBESEAL
recognised in the current reporting period that was BEPERAERNREHRA =
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of S8

the reporting period:

The following table shows the amount of revenue

2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR¥EFIT
Revenue recognised that was included R ¥R & BB & &4 R
in contract liabilities at the beginning & {& R I & #ERH
of the reporting period: W& & -
Restaurant operations BEEEE 236,251 218,367
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued) 5, WaERHEMWAE
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EEAHKE (&)
=)
&
(i) Performance obligations (i) ERIEF

Information about the Group’s performance obligations FREAEBRAORTHER M

is summarised below: W
Restaurant operations & E

BHORERATFREHRERRSE
Bl AEBEREXFNRS
GREZR/ERRES  ERARE
MREXMFe LORESHE
Me-EEMATIR—M@EA-

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
catering services have been provided to customers.
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on cash, credit card settlement and in
connection with settlement through payment platforms.
The credit period is generally less than one month.

An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows: REBHEMBADTAOT

2024 2023
—E-mF —E-_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREETF T

Other income Haug A
Bank interest income ;|ITH E A 2,199 3,461
Commission income' & WA 17,338 18,784
Government grants* AT 47 B 1,495 8,756
Others Hi 2,266 2,166
23,298 33,167

# Commission income represents commission received or 8 BB AEREEREREE

receivable in respect of sales of tea related products. mEWHRERZAE -

BT 6 B 15 7R 5 B W B 2R 8 R
B A b 3 S & [ E 1T ) RS OE
B H) BB AL o HE B I R I S
5 TE B &M o R A B IS LE 4 B
HEANRBITHRGESIXESE

these grants. 18 °

The government grants represent the incentive *
subsidies received from the Mainland China for the
business activities carried out by the Group. There are
no specific conditions attached to the grants. There are
no unfulfilled condition or contingencies relating to
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6.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024

R-ZE-_WF+_A=+—H

6. BiaT (BE) &EF

AEBE A (BR) SaFemg/

charging/(crediting): (%) T%FH1E :
2024 2023
“E-MF —E_=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wt AR¥ TR ARBTT
Directors’ remuneration EEMe 8 12,152 8,681
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERMAXZ (TEE
directors’ and chief executive’s EERTHEZNS
remuneration (note 8)): (B17#8)) :
Wages and salaries TEkE& 355,922 379,940
Pension scheme contributions (defined BRET I
contribution schemes)" (EEHERETED 54,655 48,685
Total staff costs BTNALE 422,729 437,306
Depreciation of items of property, plant ~ #1% - BERRZEHIEH 2
and equipment e 13 29,574 33,862
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 14(a) 52,491 52,231
Amortisation of intangible assets* B EESH 15 = 211
Variable lease payments not included in T EEEHEAETE
the measurement of lease liabilities M EEENRK 14(c) 5,552 7,574
Gain on revision of lease terms arising A #sEE S #
from changes in the non-cancellable BEHmMUMER
periods of leases ETEET RS 14(c) (1,804) (11,884)
Auditor’s remuneration’ ZE A & 1,700 1,700
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE BERZE
plant and equipment* BH BB 630 249
Impairment of property, plant and ME BERREZ
equipment? B 13 2,193 3,314
Impairment of right-of-use assets* FREEEZRE! 14(a) 4,654 -
Impairment of an investment in a joint H—HBREEE AR
venture A 16 816 1,573
Impairment of an amount due from a joint M —R A& & A & A
venture* 2R E! 16 727 461
Advertisement and promotion expenses* & & I i & B 22,024 19,479
Restaurant operating expenses and MEEEER KA
charges* 42,176 42,127
Sanitation and maintenance expenses* FEREEBRES 20,599 22,968
Travelling, carriage and freight* ERRERE 7,101 8,690
Foreign exchange differences, net b 5 = H )55 1,062 584
Change in fair value of a financial asset at ZAFEABZHNE
fair value through profit or loss REENNFEZE 5,517 (2,065)
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@ Y2
BN

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. PBiAT(E5E) RmF @)
- " There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the " AEEBETRBIEREERABRIK
@V Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of Az B2 BB -

contributions.

# ltems are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated # HEHAGGERRZIEMAX]
statement of profit or loss. B oo
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMERADH AT :
2024 2023
—E-mF —ET=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Interest on bank loans SRITEZF B - 163
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 10,230 10,611
10,230 10,774
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERITHHEARZHME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, FR BEBERTHREHZHNEBE L
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), ™R BB R A G H 5383(1)@)
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and b) - OFRMEE AR (BEEZEFFE
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about B R B FE2MIWEMT ¢
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Fees we 3,533 3,473
Other emoluments: Hii < :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ ~ 2B R E Y H R 4,987 4,609
Performance related bonuses FRIBB AL 2,137 —
Equity-settled share award scheme AR AR 4 & 2 Iz tn 52D
expense (note 26) s EIA X (A iE26) 1,360 482
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B4R 135 117
8,619 5,208
12,152 8,681

NS
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTHARZME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
@, (@) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFEBITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAN IR TRELIERTESZ
during the year were as follows: MBI :

2024 2023

—E U4 —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR¥EF T

Mr. Kwong Chi Keung BB Aok & 276 270

Mr. Kwong Ping Man BB AR 32 4 A 276 270

Mr. Chan Kin Shun® PR FE I S O 221 152

Mr. Cheung Kin Ting, Alfred® ok BR RE ST AP = 81

773 773

9 B A S R T
EFOFM( =5 ).

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2023: Nil).

(1) Mr. Chan Kin Shun has been appointed as an (1) BRREIELEEZERBE LI
independent non-executive Director with effect from 18 TEE BT -_=FWA
April 2023. + B RER

(2)  Mr. Cheung Kin Ting, Alfred resigned as an independent (2 REEXLECBHETEABEIIEHR

TEE B-_ZE-_=%F1A
+/\B B ERK -

non-executive Director with effect from 18 April 2023.

16(0) TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED % (shED) 2R R A S



Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERITHEARZME »®)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive (b) BITESRITBARK
Salaries, Equity-settled
Performance allowances Pension share award
related  and benefits scheme scheme Total
Fees bonuses in kind  contributions expense  remuneration
REHEBz HE 2R RALER B
e %A BUANE BHRGEER RBHERX HesE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFT AREFT ARETR ARBTT AREFT ARETR
2024 “E-QNE
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Weng Peine BERLT 607 1,069 1,484 30 680 3,870
Mr. Yip Shu Ming (‘Mr. Yip") ERprE(ELE) 607 - 1,304 - - 1,911
Mr. Chan Man Wai (“Mr. Chan’) gL (REED 552 - - - - 552
Mr. Ku Hok Chiu (“Mr. Ku") HEBAE(HEED 552 - - - - 552
Mr. Chen Zhi Xiong RSt S s 221 641 1,214 88 408 2,572
Mr. Wong Chung Yeung") BERBLED 221 427 985 17 272 1,922
2,760 2,137 4,987 135 1,360 11,379
2023 —T-=F
Executive directors: WTES:
Ms. Weng Peine BERLT 504 - 1,415 17 241 2,267
Mr. Yip Shu Ming (‘Mr. Yip") ERmaE(EL4E)) 504 - 1,246 - - 1,840
Mr. Chan Man Wai (Mr. Chan’) B L (REED 540 = = = = 540
Mr. Ku Hok Chiu (“Mr. Ku") HEBAE(HEED 540 - - - - 540
Mr. Chen Zhi Xiong WS LA 216 = 1,007 84 145 1,452
Mr. Wong Chung Yeung ERBEE 216 = M 16 9% 1,269
2,700 - 4,609 17 482 7,908
There was no arrangement under which a director or REENAN  BEESRITHER
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any W 3k A B W E T Al B A
remuneration during the year. ZHE o
No amount was paid by the Group to the directors or RREFEE  NEERESFE
any of the five highest paid employees as an MREFEEREM— B H
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as B8 ' MEABIMARSEBE LA
compensation for loss of office during both years. AR BB ) BB 3k 1E /B R A
& -
M Mr. Wong Chung Yeung resigned as an executive V) BERABLEEBEBRITARTE
director with effect from 1 February 2025. T BA-_ZE-_RAF_-_A—H#E
E e
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 2l

The five highest paid employees during the year included

four (2023: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are

set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the

year of the remaining one (2023: one)

highest paid

employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the

Company are as follows:

TEBREHESR

RERN AEBEeEHEESBENA (=
Z_=F MOR)EF HMFBEERN
P8 - REFEH T —R(ZF
T - R)BESFRECGEAQA
EEATRARNFMAEB25 W
™~

2024 2023

—E O —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AR T T

Basic salaries and other benefits in kind E A% 4 & H th T 9% F %5 1,159 1,213
Performance related bonuses FRIBME 2 E4T = =
Pension scheme contributions R ONET B R 88 77
1,247 1,290

The number of non-director and non-chief executive, highest

paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

band is as follows:

AETHHFMEENEESER TR
BNBESHHESHAKDT

Number of employees

EEAH
2024 2023
—E-mF —T_=F

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

1,000,0018 7T =
1,500,000/ 7T
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10.

INCOME TAX

The Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are subject
to income tax at the rate of 25% (2023: 25%). Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group

Notes to the Financial Statements
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10. fTBH

AR R F B A2 B A R BB M
R A25% (=B = =4 :25%) 2 Bt
1S5 o H fthith 75 &) FE R B s A B IE TY
RAEBIKEMEREER 2RTH

operates. KRG HE o
2024 2023
—E-NEF —F_Z=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥ET T

Current — PRC BNHER —

Charge for the year AFEERS 3,091 5,657

Underprovision in prior years TEREIR 170 99
Current — Hong Kong BE — %

Charge for the year FRRAX = 23
PRC withholding tax on dividend income % 8 4% A 2 b B 78 0 % 1,811 1,575
Deferred (note 23) IR AT (K7 7223) 2,329 (1,364)
Total tax charge for the year AFERIERS 25 7,401 5,990
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. & ©)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit BEABRAR R &HE XI5 HEBA A
before tax at the statutory rate for the country in which the FTERRZEAERERER A (E5E)
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled HAECHEERERERME
to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a STECHIBEER R RERAME
reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax (BVEEME) BAFEEERH EEHEK
rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows: AR
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T AREEF T
(Loss)/profit before tax BB R (EER)
i A (11,503) 48,254
Tax at the statutory tax rate  1&)%E K H (2,876) 25 12,064 25
Lower tax rates enacted by & BT &K

local authority it & (877) 3.3 (1,348) (2.8)
Losses attributable to joint &% N TIEMR

ventures &5 18 284 (2.5) 6389 1.4
Adjustments in respect of Bt 5 AT B fA B HA

current tax of previous MIRFTEA &

periods 170 (1.5) 99 0.2
Effect of withholding tax on the 7%= & & B iff /8 A

distributable profits of the A8 A] 99 K g )

Group’s PRC subsidiaries BN A T E 1,811 (15.7) 1,575 3.3
Income not subject to tax BAMT 2 WA (349) 3.0 (1,552) (3.2)
Expenses not deductible TREMB 2R

for tax 7,577 (65.9) 6,458 13.4
Tax losses utilised from &) F LA B B A

previous periods B E R (3,104) 27.0 (16,147) (33.5)
Tax losses not recognised RIERZ R ERE 3,383 (29.4) 7,700 16.0
Others ) 882 (7.6) (3,548) (7.4)
Tax charge at the Group’s FREREE

effective rate for the year BERFMEGTE 2

791 38 i X 7,401 (64.3) 5,990 12.4
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12.
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DIVIDENDS 11. K&
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR T T
Interim special dividend — Nil PHIRRIRR B — &
(2023: HK2.50 cents per ordinary share) —E-=F :BRETBR
2.5078 1) = 24,211
Proposed final dividend — BEAAKRE —
HK1.00 cent per ordinary share IR T @ AR1.007 L
(2023: HK1.50 cents per ordinary share) (== = =4 : 1.50/%1l) 10,115 14,688
10,115 38,899

AERZEZRARBAKRRAK
RNEERRBERG LHE K H

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming

annual general meeting. 1EM o
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. AARIEBERERITEE AEL
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 2BR(BE) &2

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
amount is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,074,721,981 (2023: 1,076,027,500) in issue during the
year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

BREXN(EBER) /BANSEIRIEAE
RAEBBRERERAREAEE (B
1B) BRI RFACEITERBRINETF
5 #1,074,721,9818 (= T = = F:
1,076,027,500/%) 5+ & °

REBEE-_ZT-_NFER_FT_=ZF+=
A=+ BLEFER AEETEE
BIBEHSTRKKRG -
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12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share are based on:

AAREERERFTEAEMN
=3 EE)/E%U(@)

FREANEE(EE) BROE
FEKE

2024 2023
—ENF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

(Loss)/earnings (B58) / E b
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity AN A Al LB ERFHE A A

holders of the Company, used in the J?'EET{E(J%?E)/@ A

basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per ARETEEREARAREE

share calculations (E518) /&7 (18,924) 41,692

Number of shares
g
2024 2023
—_E_MFE —_EFE =

Shares & 4

Weighted average number of ordinary ARFAETRERREE
shares in issue during the year used in (1) /BHIHERN
the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per & 21T & @ A%
share calculations HnE ¥ 15 £

1,074,721,981 1,076,027,500
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. X -BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE-
HE#E RERRE ARE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR® TR ARBT R ARET R
31 December 2024 “E-mE
t=RA=t-H
At 1 January 2024: RZZ M4
—HA—8:
Cost BEN 369,261 112,031 5,365 486,657
Accumulated depreciation R ERRE
and impairment (324,315) (78,325) (4,263) (406,903)
Net carrying amount REFE 44,946 33,706 1,102 79,754
At 1 January 2024, net of R-_T-_MFE—A
accumulated depreciation — B Wk &
and impairment nERRE 44,946 33,706 1,102 79,754
Additions NE 27,219 7,752 185 35,156
Depreciation provided during 4 R & B /&
the year (20,059) 9,173) (342) (29,574)
Impairment B (566) (1,627) - (2,199)
Disposals & (123) (391) (116) (630)
Exchange realignment BE R 26 15 - 41
At 31 December 2024, net of R=T=F+ =7
accumulated depreciation =+—H Mk
and impairment 2 MERAE 51,443 30,282 829 82,554
At 31 December 2024: R-ZT-mM4E
+-A=+—-8:
Cost BEN 374,050 115,524 5,199 494,773
Accumulated depreciation R MERAE
and impairment (322,607) (85,242) (4,370) (412,219)
Net carrying amount REFE 51,443 30,282 829 82,554
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BERRZRE@)
(Continued)
i :
- Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
A
MEEE RENEB & #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T AR®BTF T ARETTT
31 December 2023 —B-=F
+=A=+-A
At 1 January 2023: R-ZBE_=%
—A—R:
Cost BN 399,342 107,591 5,536 512,469
Accumulated depreciation R MERAE
and impairment (340,563) (84,746) (4,291) (429,600)
Net carrying amount REFE 58,779 22,845 1,245 82,869
At 1 January 2023, net of RZEZ=%—H
accumulated depreciation —B Nk R
and impairment TERRE 58,779 22,845 1,245 82,869
Additions NE 14,541 20,455 556 35,552
Depreciation provided during & T & # 5
the year (24,948) (8,479) (435) (33,862)
Impairment oRE] (3,314) = = (3,314)
Disposals HE (130) (1,122) (264) (1,516)
Exchange realignment [ 18 7 = 25
At 31 December 2023, net of R-_E-=F+_f
accumulated depreciation =f+—8 kK
and impairment R MERRAE 44,946 33,706 1,102 79,754
At 31 December 2023 R-_FE-_=F
+ZA=+—8:
Cost DEN 369,261 112,031 5,365 486,657
Accumulated depreciation 2 MERAE
and impairment (324,315) (78,325) (4,263) (406,903)
Net carrying amount REFE 44,946 33,706 1,102 79,754
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13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s management identified
certain restaurants which were loss-making and performed
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment for
identified restaurants with impairment indicators and
estimated corresponding recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment based on value-in-use
calculation. Based on these estimates, an impairment loss of
RMB2,193,000 (2023: RMBS3,314,000) was recognised to
write down the carrying amounts of certain property, plant
and equipment to their estimated recoverable amounts
during the year. The recoverable amount of the items of
property, plant and equipment is determined based on a
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of
the respective property, plant and equipment. The pre-tax
discount rates applied for the cash flow projections ranged
from 11.0% to 21.4% (2023: 11.0% to 21.2%).

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
properties. The leases generally have lease terms between 2
and 10 vyears. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the
Group. There are several lease contracts that include
variable lease payments, which are further discussed below.

13.

14.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

ME - BERRME

R-E-—mME+=—RA=+—H A&
EEEEHNLETRABENE
B UEAEEEHEHINEENY
¥ BELZBETRERTG  WRE
FRAEBEFEGTYE  BER&E
REER D S5 - BIBFZE MR
BRERREEEAR?2,193,0007T (=
T =4 : AR¥3,314,00070) ' RF
WABETYE BEREEOHERR
CHEMBEEMGBFAATIKBDSE -
¥ BERXBEEMATKESET
BEEABEFEMETE  WEAN
EME - BB RZEF A ERFH
MY BBERERMNESREEAN -
BHEREAEXANKRBAFTREENT
1M0%E2NAR TN FZF(ZZTZ=F: N
T11.0%E21.2% T 5) °

HE
FREEAEBA

AEERZHEYMEXRBEIEHREAS
HoZEHENER-RBRNIREL
F-BEMS AKEEEREOHEE
BNMEEEETEXR - ZEAHEE
BHNERUZEENR EZHBER
IS
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31 December 2024

R=F=

=

m&E+_-_A=+—H

14. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as

follows:

14. & &)

FEEEBERBAE)

@ ‘HEEZE

K 2 [ 50 45 PO MO 52 PR ME A 7 R

T

Buildings
LY 3
RMB’000
AR®T T
As at 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=F—F—H 134,586
Additions NE 134,563
Depreciation charge EMX (62,231)
Revision of lease terms arising from changes in A HEHEREZH MY
the non-cancellable periods of leases THEETIEET (11,185)
Impairment BB =
Exchange realignment E H 122
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ_=F+-_H=+—H
1 January 2024 NZZE-_mF—-H—H 205,855
Additions NE 41,484
Depreciation charge WERX (52,491)
Revision of lease terms arising from changes TABEEESREE
in the non-cancellable periods of leases m¥HEHREITEE] (3,217)
Impairment BB (4,654)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 3 & 79
As at 31 December 2024 R_ZE_MNE+_HF=+—H 187,056
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14. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s management
identified certain restaurants which were loss-making
and performed impairment assessment of right-of-use
assets for the identified restaurants with impairment
indicators and estimated the corresponding
recoverable amounts of the right-of-use assets based
on value-in-use calculation. Based on these estimates,
impairment loss of RMB4,654,000 (2023: Nil) was
recognised to write down the carrying amounts of
certain right-of-use assets to their estimated
recoverable amounts during the year. The recoverable
amount of the items of right-of-use assets is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering the remaining lease terms plus the
anticipated renewal periods of the respective right-of-
use assets. The pre-tax discount rates applied for the
cash flow projections ranged from 11.0% to 21.4%
(2023: 11.0% to 21.2%).

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

14. HE @)

FEEEBERBAE)

(@

&1 & E (&)

RZE-_NWF+=—A=+—8"
AEEEEEZANLE TRAS
ERER  WIRBEREZEEDH
MEZEEMNFEREEEETREST
o WAREBEREBSEMEE
FREEEMNMEEAKREEE R
BZEME BRBAEBBEAR
#4.654,000T (= & — = F:
m)RFRNBETERESR
ENREEBRE G
e -FABEEEHEB NI
Bl BEERABEFTEME
T {5 DA F R E T £
HERKTEREERNYBER
RBERNBASRETEN - BHR
EREANBRBANBAERNT
11.0%E21.4% N H(Z & = =
F: NF11.0%E21.2% T E) o
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. & &)

- The Group as a lessee (Continued) XEEEBRBANE)
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FAHEEERmMEREDN

movements during the year are as follows: N
2024 2023
—E-F T =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—H—BWEREE 227,079 163,304
New leases MEE 41,484 134,563
Accretion of interest recognised FRNEBRRFHE
during the year 10,230 10,611
Payments N (64,113) (58,460)
Revision of lease terms arising from &7~ Al #i 5 7H € H1 5 & &)
changes in the non-cancellable i % 70 & BT IS 5T
periods of leases (5,021) (23,069)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 3 & 258 130
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ Z-A=+—HHEEE 209,917 227,079
Analysed into: 2RI=
Current portion BN A o 47,429 55,439
Non-current portion FERNER B o 162,488 171,640
Within one year —F R 47,429 55,439
In the second year F_F 38,370 44,828
In the third to fifth years FZEFERF 87,923 93,844
Over five years Jiasp Al 36,195 32,968
209,917 227,079

HEABNIHB W RERH
5 3 M 5E32 -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 32 to the financial statements.

AEEHEHEARFARETY
XHERTHOMERERERE
BORAERAUTHNEEL L

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all
eligible rent concessions granted by the lessors for
leases of certain properties during the year.
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14. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H
14. HE#®)
XEEEBERBANE)

(c) MIBzFEREHE S MR RIE L

leases are as follows: ™
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENME 10,230 10,611
Depreciation charge of right-of-use {# & E T E R
assets 52,491 52,231
Expense relating to short-term HEEOMERERX
leases (included in staff costs and (FF AB I AKREE &
rental and related expenses) EE R 43,949 50,165
Variable lease payments not TEREHEARGETEN
included in the measurement of AEHENKGIARS
lease liabilities (included in rental &Y
and related expenses) 5,552 7,574
Gain on revision of lease terms TR ERRBEEES M
arising from changes in the HESEHETETNKE
non-cancellable periods of leases (1,804) (11,884)
Impairment of right-of-use assets A E 2w & (4,654) =
Total amount recognised in RERERNBRSHE
profit or loss 105,764 108,697

(d)  Variable lease payments

The Group had leased a number of restaurants which
contain variable lease payment terms that are based on
the Group’s turnover generated from the restaurants.
There are also minimum monthly base rental
arrangements for these leases. The amounts of the fixed
and variable lease payments paid to relevant lessors
were RMB64,113,000 (2023: RMB58,460,000) and
RMB5,538,000 (2023: RMB7,574,000), respectively.

(e)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
27(c) to the financial statements.

(@) FEZHE N

AREFHELZHEE E483
ERAEBEEZEELEEMEL
BEBEOUEHEENRTIER-
ZEMENERBKRABEL -
SHRHFHRELEBEANEE NA
BHENRSBEIHIAARKE
64,113,000 (= & = = £ :
A R #58,460,0007T) K& A R #
5,638,000 (=T = =F: AR
7 574,0007T) °

() HMEREREEABHERT KR
*MEE27(C) ©
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15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Licences and Concession
franchises Trademarks right Total
RERGTE (5L REE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREBTT ARETT ARETTT
31 December 2024 ZE-ME+ZA=+—H
At 1 January 2024: RZZT-_@mFE—-F—H:
Cost B 3,582 4,612 - 8,194
Accumulated amortisation and R &% #5 R E
impairment (3,582) (4,612) = (8,194)
Net carrying amount REFE - - - -
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RZZT-—M&E—F—HBZHKAX -
accumulated amortisation MR Rat# s = = = =
Amortisation provided during FREHERE
the year = = = =
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ZmFE+=A=+—H = = = =
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-WMFE+-A=+—H:
Cost B 3,582 4,612 - 8,194
Accumulated amortisation and 28 85 KR E
impairment (3,582) (4,612) = (8,194)
Net carrying amount BREFE — - - -
31 December 2023 —E-=f5+-A=1+-H
At 1 January 2023: R-ZE-_=F—H—H:
Cost AR 3,582 4,612 - 8,194
Accumulated amortisation ESE S (3,582) (4,401) - (7,983)
Net carrying amount REFE = 211 = 211
Cost at 1 January 2023, netof MN-ZT-_=F—A—H<zRAK"
accumulated amortisation Nk REr# 8 = 211 — 211
Amortisation provided during FREHERE
the year - (211) - (211)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-Z=F+=-A=+—H = = = =
At 31 December 2023: R-—T-_=Ff+-RA=+—H:
Cost B AR 3,582 4,612 = 8,194
Accumulated amortisation and 2 5+ 85 KR E
impairment (3,582) (4,612) - (8,194)
Net carrying amount BREFE — — — -
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16.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

16. RESE DT

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AR T T
Share of net assets EEEEFE 6,428 7,571
Loans to joint ventures HEERNAHNER 16,029 13,107
Impairment A (8,588) (2,772)
18,869 17,906
The loans to joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and BERRINERAEER RERIZ
repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors, these ERER -BERA  ZZEXRTAKAA
loans are unlikely to be repaid in the foreseeable future and R RBEREE IREREER
are considered as part of the Group’s net investments in the EERNAMNFREN—HBH

joint ventures.

The Group has provided an impairment loss of RMB816,000
(2023: RMB1,573,000) for an interest in a joint venture
during the year as the joint venture has been loss-making
for some time and the carrying amount exceeded the
recoverable amount of the investment.

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group has provided an impairment loss for an amount
due from a joint venture of RMB727,000 (20283:
RMB461,000) during the year.

REBRFARK —HEERQARE
@ aT IR B B & 1B A R #816,0007T (=
T-=F: AR#¥1,573,000T) - B A
ZEERARIRN —BREBERN—EERE
Bk BEREEBEREMNTKD
et

ERELRRZHRBELEELRE &8
Wik BERKEE -

AREBRAFERER—BEAEEL QAR
TEH T HER B B 1B A R #727,0000T (=
T - =F: AR¥461,0007T) °
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16.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

16. RESE QAT (&)

1 76 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= () ZRRAR A

The above investments are indirectly held by the Company.

(Continued)
Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures are as REBEFEGERAIZFBISENOT
follows:
Percentage of
Eil
Place of
Issued incorporation Ownership Voting Profit
Name share capital  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
T AL R
L ERTRE EEHEY EEERS REE BRI TEXHB
Taiwan Papparich Catering Limited TW$82,880,000  Taiwan 30 30 30  Restaurant operations
REEBEERRNAERAA #ake2880000m AE K2R
Shenzhen Bao Ma Catering RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland 30 30 30  Restaurant operations
Management Limited A K #1,000,0007T China MR
RYIREERERERAF HEl/ B A
Taiwan Tang Palace Catering TW$60,000,000  Taiwan 45 45 45  Restaurant operations
Management Limited 716 %60,000,0000 A% KEEE
REEEESERERERRR
Social Place Singapore Pte Limited SG$100,000  Singapore 40 40 40  Restaurant operations
#A03%T100,00070  EANK BEEE
Foodmazing Limited HK$300,000  Hong Kong 33 33 33  Restaurant operations
EXEBERRAA 300,000  EE BEEE
Shenzhen Tang Feng Shu Wei F&B RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland 64 64 49  Restaurant operations
Management Co., Ltd. AR #%1,000,0007T China R
AITERBRARERERAA B/ E A
Shanghai Long Feng Tang Yin Catering RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland 70 70 70  Restaurant operations
Management Co., Ltd. AR #%1,000,0007T China R
FEEEERERERERAA HEl/ B A
Hong Kong Xinjingxi Investment Limited HK$1,000,000  Hong Kong 28 28 28  Restaurant operations
ERNREREBRAA 1,000,000%7T  &E BEEE

FRRERARFEEES -
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16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 16. RESE QT (&)
(Continued)
The Group had discontinued the recognition of its share of AEEERIEBRHLDEERAEWN
losses of certain joint ventures because the share of losses e AAEGZEEBBHASLE
exceeded the Group’s interests and the Group had no 2D BAEEWES TAEE—
obligation to take up further losses. W18 -
The Group has no unrecognised share of losses and REBR ﬁirlﬁﬂiﬁ@wﬁ%fﬁﬁ%?@
accumulated unrecognised share of losses for the current SR RERELEBER(ZZ ==
year (2023: RMB794,000 and RMB3,631,000). A R #794,0007T & A R #3,631,000

TT) °

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRINEAEEHREIEBTERNZEE
information of the Group’s joint ventures that are not NAElZ =RV EEFR

individually material:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTTT

Share of the joint ventures’ losses for FRNEEEEARERE

the year (1,137) (8,572)
Share of the joint ventures’ other [EmeE A EMEE

comprehensive income I &= (6) 65
Share of the joint ventures’ total BiHAEE L R 2HEERBE

comprehensive losses (1,143) (8,507)
Aggregate carrying amount of the KEBREERRIZREZ

Group’s investments in joint ventures BREEAZ 18,869 17,906
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. BAFEFAREMEZEK S
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ERvemEE
- INCOME/PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETT

Equity investment designated at fair EERLAFEFAHMEE
value through other comprehensive Wz RAERE

income
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value  Z A FEFEHIE EHARA
®E 21,833 24,274
The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at PR ARG E AR IETE BIEA
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group FTEFAEMEZEKZEX  RAER
considers this investment to be strategic in nature. SERBZEREBREEES -
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR ARET T

Debt investment designated at fair EERATETFTABZEZ

value through profit or loss BRERE
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value BRAFEFENIELTES
®E 19,274 26,209
The above debt investment was a convertible loan and was FMEBIRE R RAR & 558 § o
mandatorily classified as a financial asset at fair value HREATEFABERZEREE -
through profit or loss as its contractual cash flows are not RESGHNRESRAIFEAINEER
solely payments of principal and interest. B e

178 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED & (R ) 12 R MRA S



18.

19.
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RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

INVENTORIES 18. &
2024 2023
—EB-QlmF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR T T
Food and beverages, and other operating & fh & 8k £ LA &2 & B2 2 15 HY
items for restaurant operations H & &8 B 28,130 27,070

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

19. ESRHEMEBWRIER AN

PREPAYMENTS iz |
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥EF T
Trade receivables 2 5 '8 9,417 13,270
Prepayments AR 24,979 25,301
Deposits and other receivables %4 I HAth B I FE 21,497 42,749
55,893 81,320
Less: Prepayments and deposits classified i : DA BIERBEEZ
as non-current assets ENFIERES (21,037) (41,400)
34,856 39,920
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly AEBEETPIRGBRRETERE

credit card settlement and in connection with bills settled
through payment platforms with credit period generally less
than 30 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

receivables

ARENEEINFE EWEREXN
B EEH-—RINOB-BEE
FHREAEFELR AEBEHHEKRIKED
FEYRIA R BARES - GRERE
SEHEMANGES ERX Lt AR
AEBZESRYARES D HE
FEH BRAIBEANEEETRR-
NS B3 M ph HOE B R WK IR A BRI
EEMERRREMEERTER-
BIRBRBERRE -
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19.

180 Tane

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on invoice date and net of
provisions, is as follows:

B 5 & H fth FE W KR R T A K
H (&)

BREZAMEHE B 5 ERHER R
& HIR 2 BRI T (IR BB T

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR T T

Within 30 days 30H A 9,155 11,794
31 to 60 days 31260H 131 342
61 to 90 days 61290H 91 116
Over 90 days 90H K k 40 1,018
9,417 13,270

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for
more than one year and are not subject to enforcement
activity. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed that the loss allowance and the expected credit
loss rate under the application of HKFRS 9 were
insignificant.

PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED /&= (s E) #ZERER D E

RNEREAHRAREEEETRE
AW AT RETEHREEEBE - BHEXTD
ARABBEUBERANZEER, S
HARM BB ASKEE (AIMR) - %
ERMARTNEER E¥KE
ERmEBHASENBEBBTEIRE .
AR R AR R BERGTEANE R
RAE&ER - —RME  BEZEBER
e B R B — A R 7B IR 0 58 il
TEBAITAME KT WFR
—E-_=F+=-RA=+—H 4A5H
ST FE R B BB WS R T Y
EEREREHEEEEXRRAM TR
;Eo
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. B HEWRIE R FBARK
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 5 (#)
Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental BeREMBEURRBBEEREAERS
deposits and deposits with suppliers. Where applicable, an MEHERNEE REREBAEHB
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by BEEEAHEETRMAIL QG E
considering the probability of default of comparable R AT EETREI T (HER) -
companies with published credit ratings. In the situation WEEZZINEBEEETFRANALR
where no comparable companies with credit ratings can be A TEHAEEEEABLEAEER
identified, expected credit losses are estimated by applying AEBELEFERABEXREETMHG -
a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss BEXENEEREREDFHENRE
record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the WEAMRN RFERRRALEAMMN - R
current conditions and forecasts of future economic EoNFRFE=FF+ A =+—
conditions, as appropriate. As at 31 December 2024 and H AEBEFHEREETEMELE
2023, the Group assessed that the loss allowance and the RIS TR ESEBREMTBHEESE
expected credit loss rate under the application of HKFRS 9 EEMTRE -
were insignificant.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERBEEE
2024 2023
—E-WEF —_E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥EF T
Cash and bank balances e MIRTT 4B ER 206,055 182,848
Time deposits TE HA 77 3K 122,226 138,526
Cash and cash equivalents BehReE 328,281 321,374

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group held in Mainland China amounted to
RMB289,320,000 (2023: RMB292,847,000). The RMB held in
Mainland China is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RB|EHR ASEERFPEALIFR
ZHRERBITHEHBRERETEREAR
#289,320,000L (Z T = =F : ARK
292,847,0007T) ° AR FBHAHIFE
ZARBIIEHERAHEME
SR - AR AR B A Hb B SN BE B IR (K
hitEE EERMNESTERT  A5H
BEEFBRERTEARBEL AH
fthEEE - DUEITINEER -
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ReRRESE @

AEBETRTRSRERRITEA
TFRMERZFE R REREA S - 525
ERFRZBRA/ALA (T =5
+H) BREAEEZARREFRM
EoURBRZEHERETERERR
BHE -RITERDFERNEERYT
ZBITEBA W EERRIBLE -

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continuea) 20.

Certain of the Group’s cash at banks earns interest at
=) floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term
time deposits are made for seven days (2023: seven days)
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EZRHMENRKIE

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=FF

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B it AR®T T AREEF T

Trade payables 2 5 N RIE 44,761 52,255
Other payables and accruals H i JE < 5RIE

fE =t R 1E 15,339 17,250

Salary and welfare payables e F e KEF 28,021 25,702

Contract liabilities AHAaE (@) 252,722 236,251

340,843 331,458

182 tane

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of

REZRBHFAE  BEHEMNFTAR R

the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as EHRZBRE DT ¢
follows:

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBET T
Within 30 days 30H A 36,456 41,581
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,506 2,988
61 to 90 days 61290H 795 1,356
91 to 180 days 91%180H 987 2,482
Over 180 days 180H A F 4,017 3,848
44,761 52,255

The trade and other payables are non-interest-bearing and
are normally settled on terms of 30 days to 90 days.

PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED /&= (s E) #ZERER D E

EoNEMEMNREBATTERBE
MRB0B ZE0H HM NEE -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 21. ESRHMENRE &
Note: Kt -
(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ ARBESFBEOT:
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E_mE —E =4
+=—HA=+—8B +=-—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBT T
Short-term advances received from W& F Y 5 B9 52 B
customers BT H
Contract liabilities in relation to customers’ HEFBEMAREEBEN
advance payments ERNAaE 252,722 236,251
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to AHBEBEREARMEE KR MK
provide catering services. At 1 January 2023, contract BOEHENR #E T _=F—
liabilittes amounted to RMB218,367,000. The increase in A—HB 680 BEcHEAARY
contract liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to the 218,367,000 e —_E—WWF K - =F
increase in short-term advances received from customers in ZEFAHNAEEN TERARSE
relation to the restaurant operations at the end of the years. EREFPKIREEREFEBAH

2 H TR AN SRR B A0 P B

22. DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 22. FEYRAEE A B RIA
The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, BERBEEQARCREABEERE 28
interest-free and repayable on demand. In the opinion of WHZERKEERE TEERE  ZBAER
directors, the directors, shareholders and beneficial owners ACEES REKEZEEABERA
of the related companies are the common directors and AZHAREERETERR -

major shareholders of the Company.
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23. EERHIE
- The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during FR - EERBEEEREENZESHN
@, the year are as follows: N
Deferred tax liabilities BREHIEE R
Fair value
adjustment

arising from the

financial assets Depreciation
Undistributed at fair value allowance in
profits of the through other excess of
Right-of-use PRC  comprehensive related
assets subsidiaries income depreciation Total
BRAFEFA
Hit2EKE
HEHEAR CREEN HBEHBERED
ERREE ARDREF AYERE FEEHES @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTL AR®ETT ARETT ARETTL AR®BTT

At 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=F—A—H 31,445 1,147 1,920 454 34,966
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the FARBEENR/(KE)
statement of profit or loss during the ZBERE (M #10)
year (note 10) 17,208 1,074 = (203) 18,279
Deferred tax charged to the statement of ~FRRE M2 EUER
comprehensive income during the year Nz EEHE = = 399 = 399
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—-Ak
—T-mE-A—H 48,653 2,421 2,319 251 53,644
Deferred tax credited to the statement FARBHERER
of profit or loss during the year ZEERE K #10)
(note 10) (2,575) (444) - (99) (3118)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of FRREM2EREE
comprehensive income during the year M2 EEH A = = (610) - (610)
At 31 December 2024 RZT-MF
+ZA=+—-H 46,078 1,977 1,709 152 49,916

184 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED & (R ) 12 MR AT



23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

23. EEBIE )

Deferred tax assets BEHRIEEE
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future Other
Lease taxable temporary
liabilities profits differences Total
FE K 85
HE&RERB
HERE SEIANESE HOZTREER #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTET ARBTE ARBTT ARETR

At 1 January 2023

Deferred tax credited/
(charged) to the
statement of profit or
loss during the year

(note 10)

At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Deferred tax charged to
the statement of profit
or loss during the year

(note 10)

At 31 December 2024

RZZEZ=F
—A—H
FRARBRE
Be/ (k) z
EERIE (K iE10)

RZEZ=%+=A
=+—BE=Z
—mE—/F—H

FARB=®RE
Mk 2 B E T I8
(K1a£10)

i e
+=A=+—8”

38,978 5,516 4,578 49,072
14,826 6,179 (1,362) 19,643
53,804 11,695 3,216 68,715
(2,663) (2,126) (658) (5,447)
51,141 9,569 2,558 63,268

NS
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

23.

i FiE B TH (
REBMS HTEEHRBEEERA
BERMBARRNKEE - AEBEIER
BHREMEZBEERBLERIITAT

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR®T T
Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE MR ARER
in the consolidated statement of B IEEEFE
financial position 17,190 20,062
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised AR A B R0 3R TR
in the consolidated statement of BB IE A EFE
financial position (3,838) (4,991)
13,352 15,071

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB31,566,000 (2023: RMB30,526,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against the future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. As at 31
December 2024, no deferred tax asset was recognised in
respect of the tax losses in Hong Kong of RMB6,573,000
(2023: RMB6,430,000) due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB94,829,000 (2023: RMB106,014,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses of
RMB73,460,000 in Mainland China (2023: RMB76,180,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

1 86 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) R BER L

AEBREEELERMEEBARE
31,566,000 (ZE = =F: AR K
30,526,0007T) - ] #& R HA AR /E 8 88 A<
AEIBEZERM &N (BB B E
A e R-_ZT-_WNFE+_A=+—H"
B 2 0 78R K 2R 0 A T R B B B
B % I8 &5 18 A R #6,573,000T (= &
—=%F : AR#6,430,00070) ERIELT
MIBEE -

AREBRPRAMEE 2 KR —
ERAFRIB2MREEEARK
94,829,000 (ZE = =F: AR ®
106,014,0007C) Al A A H EE £ % &
EERZERARZARERB &R -
P AR K TE ORI R 2R s BB - BRI R
FRPEAOFHEEEBARE
73,460,000 (ZE = =F: AR
76,180,0007T ) HE RIEIE I IE & & o



23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is
5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes when dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary difference associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries was approximately RMB93,081,000 (2023:
RMB106,079,000). A deferred tax liability has been
recognised in respect of approximately RMB39,550,000
(2023: RMB48,421,000) of such undistributed earnings. No
deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of the
undistributed earnings of certain subsidiaries of
RMB53,531,000 (2023: RMB57,658,000) because the Group
is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

23.
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i FE B IR ()

BEPBEPEMSHE  FBEIRAMK
VZHNEBRELEMINHIREETIR
Z R BABN10% 2 AR - AT B
—EENF-—A—BRBRER WEA
R-BEE+F+_A=+—RHZRBE
EZEF - BRBEAMMINEIEEE
ZEEEEEEKRT M HE - BT
HARBEZENBEBEER ASEM
= EAMEA5%H10% o A It A
EEEHERBEANMK Y ZHE QT
R_ZEZENF-—A—BRBRELEZETF
Fr ik 2 B SAETRE T B4 o

RBEHR WEBRA RS IKEF
BFRACEREZEREBBEORBARE

93,081,000t(= & = = &F: A B
#106,079,0007T) - B M 4 A R ¥
39,550,000 c(—ZFE —=ZF: AR

48,421,0007T) < #% 5 K » B B 7|
REEHEBEEE - ASBIEHRE
BETHBAARD RAF AR
53,531,000 (ZZE = =ZF: AR®
57,658,000 ARELEMIBEE - I
MR ASEEMIEG R ZERER
2R RREEREEAELERT
2R E AT -

AR B A BER S7A BRB S 4 A A AE ]
PRS-
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@ 24. ISSUED CAPITAL 24, ERITHRA
& As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
= R-ZE-—mE NR-ZT =%
+=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
HK$’000 equivalent HK$’000 equivalent
£E 2]

FTELT AR®TR TET ARBTRT

Authorised: VARE ¢
4,000,000,000 ordinary 4,000,000,000R%
shares of HK$0.05 each B RMEE0.05
BT 2 TR 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
1,076,027,500 ordinary 1,076,027,5008%
shares of HK$0.05 each SR E0.05
BT BB 53,801 45,821 53,801 45,821

1 88 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED % (R ) 12 MR AT



25.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 96
and 97 of the financial statements.

Statutory general reserve

The statutory general reserve represents the appropriation
of 10% of profit after taxation determined based on the
relevant accounting rules and regulations of the PRC as
required by the Articles of Association of the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries. The appropriation may cease to apply if
the balance of the statutory general reserve has reached
50% of the PRC subsidiaries’ registered capital.

Other reserve

The other reserve includes: (a) the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by Tang Palace
F&B Enterprise Limited (“Tang Palace BVI”) and the nominal
value of share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by Tang
Palace BVI, (b) the deemed contribution from a controlling
shareholder of RMB1,866,000 arising on the acquisition of
the remaining 10% equity interest in Meco Petrochemical
Limited from Mr. Hui Yui Chuen (“Mr. Hui”), a non-
controlling shareholder, by Mr. Chan, a founder shareholder
of the Company, on 23 December 2009 and representing
the unaudited combined net asset value of Meco
Petrochemical Limited attributable to Mr. Hui as at 30
November 2009 reclassified from non-controlling interests as
deemed contribution by Mr. Chan, (c) the difference
between the subscription price and the nominal value of the
shares allotted and issued by Tang Palace BVI of
RMB35,014,000 and the deemed contribution from
controlling shareholders of RMB107,215,000 and (d) the
difference between the then nominal value of 1,999,999
shares of HK$0.1 each in the Company’s issued share
capital and the entire issued share capital of Tang Palace
BVI of US$50,000 eliminated as a result of the Group
Reorganisation.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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25. &

AEBRAFERBEFEZHES
ERERNEH2RNPEREF6
FOTE iR B =B BERNA o

EE—BHEE

AREIREKEARMEZERZMA
RE ARBHEBAPE S BB RE
IR BRI R R F10% B AEE —
MER -MEET —REBHRBEFR
BB A R sl & AN E50% ¢ Bl AJ AR IE
B o

H b {7 #8

HMZEEEQESRRLEERERA A
([ Tang Palace BVI |) 2 %17 % A &
Hl fTang Palace BVIUK B Fi & A 7] A%
AEEZHENZERE  OBARAARE
HABRERXBEBELERZZEZTNF
T A=+t =HMR— &R EF
BREE(HFEEDKEEZSABEL
T B R D E F #210% A% 7 M & 4 7 3k
BER R R RIED KA R 1,866,000
TR ZTEEANF+—A=1+HF
rEREERABRLELIABRAFTRE
EREHEEFE BAFERERE
o BEAER XB L EMNRED IR R(C)
Tang Palace BVIACD % [ 317 HY R 15 7R
BEEHEEEZANEZEBARE
35,014,0007T LA f2 B #% A% i% 5 /E i 79
B AE DIk AR #107,215,0007T * & (d)
RAFEBETRAFTFREBECIHET
$£1,999,9990% & 5 ® (& 1 HTang
Palace BVIF) 2 B8 E 217 E & B E A M
$H B IR ZN50,000% ST HEI 1B 2 MR =58 ©
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share Award Plan

The Company adopted a share award plan on 25 March
2011 which was revised on 22 March 2013 (the “Share
Award Plan”) pursuant to which the board of directors may,
subject to and in accordance with the rules of the Share
Award Plan, make an award of shares to certain classes of
eligible participants as specified in the Share Award Plan, as
determined by the board of directors from time to time on
the basis of the opinion of the board of directors as to the
proposed awardee’s contribution and/or future contribution
to the development and growth of the Group. The shares
and other trust fund for the implementation of the Share
Award Plan are administered by a trustee or trustees (the
“Share Award Plan Trustee”) to be appointed by the
Company.

Under the Share Award Plan, the board of directors shall
determine the eligibility of the eligible participants and the
number of shares to be awarded (the “Awarded Shares”)
and notify the Share Award Plan Trustee of the making of
awards. The Awarded Shares are either (1) transferred from
any person (other than the Group) by way of gift; (2)
purchased by the Share Award Plan Trustee out of the
funds received by way of gift or for nominal consideration;
or (3) subscribed for or purchased by the Share Award Plan
Trustee out of the funds allocated by the board of directors
out of the Group’s resources, subject to the terms and
conditions of the rules of the Share Award Plan. The Share
Award Plan Trustee may purchase shares on the Stock
Exchange at the prevailing market price or off market, or
subscribe for new shares at par or at such other
subscription price as instructed by the board of directors
out of the Group’s contribution if the board of directors

considers it appropriate to do so.

The Share Award Plan has expired on 24 March 2021 and
no further grant of awarded shares shall be made under it
after its expiry.

1 90 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) R BER L

26.

URGBERBARRS
R 3 22 B &t &

ARAR—_F——F=A-t+tABR
—E-ZF=ZA- T -HEED RS
B fn B2 By =t 8 (TR 0 BB EH 81 1) - 1%
HEEE RN ET RRE R R
SR ABERT A EE G S5
AWNETHEIAERZ2EE R
h EREHEFSIHEREESS
REBRXRATHAEEH R M IE
RIEEMBER R HA KB B A T8
BRET -BETHRMNERE MR
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REMR D EZBE EFSFHER
B AETAER2EENERRIEF
BB ODEE (REERK]) X
ey BREFEIZFEA - BEIEMD
BOEMAL (REEERIN ABERTT
REETROBRBFIZTEANK
0 QB REFEZEABBERD
BEFEXEANBR T ASIAEE
REEGNESHBENRD 3O
HEOEBAEXEADRHESTS
RAEENERTAEHENES R
15 B A0 B2 B R B 55 B B9 R SR B AR 1 T
RBABEM D - RO EEFTER
FEA R RBE R FTIRIR 1T B KI5 HME
BERfD SREEREFTSHERNA
RBERIBBHRD RBRBEER
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26.

27.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Share Award Scheme

In view of the expiry of the Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Plan (adopted in 2011) on 24 March 2021, the
Company adopted a new share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 1 April 2021. The purpose of the Share
Award Scheme is to recognize the contributions by certain
eligible persons and to provide them with incentives in order
to retain them for the continual operation and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for the
growth and further development of the Group. Subject to
any early termination, the Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on
the adoption date.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, based on the
Company’s instructions, the trustee of the Share Award
Scheme has purchased a total of 5,000,000 Shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of
approximately RMB1,842,000 equivalent and vested during
the year to the grantees under the Share Award Scheme.
RMB1,360,000 was recognised as expense during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB41,484,000 (2023: RMB134,563,000) and
RMB41,484,000 (2023: RMB134,563,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for buildings.

26.

27.
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B %3 2% By =t &1

BRI KR D BT E (R
TE——FHEMER=ZZE=Z—F=A
Zt+HmEAER ARBIRZ=ZT=Z—F
WA — BEMFR G B S (TR H
HEEED RO BEFEASERY
ETEERBATHER YHTES
BE UBRBESEALAEENIZES
BERBEEMN WRIIEBEALTMA
NE—LHBAEBMNERE - RIZA
IESN  BRIDERENET S B KA B 2 e
FHOFERNB K EM -

HE-_ZT-_NWEF+-_A=+—HIL*F
B BBARQRMIET - K’HDEEEE
MXEAEEBMIFLEE S H
5,000,000k XA Al ik fn - MR EAH R
& AR #1,842,0007T @ WA A FE
BHETUGERGD BEE THE
B A o AR #1,360,0007T 1 A F & #E
RRER-

RERETREBRME

(@) EXFBREXS

FA - AEERMEREZHE 2
FREEEREEAEIIAESR
E 7 Bl B A R #41,484,0007T (=
T =% AR®134,563,000) &
A R #4148400070 (= & = =
F . AR ¥134,563,000) °
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

27. REBRERERK T &)

@, (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFHELEWEREEH
activities
Lease
Bank loans liabilities
BITER HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T AREEF T
At 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=%—HF—H 25,830 163,304
Changes from financing cash flows BB SR E (25,830) (47,849)
New leases WEE - 134,563
Revision of lease terms arising from A BETHERE#
changes in the non-cancellable ¥ E BEITIEET
periods of leases - (23,069)
Foreign exchange movement fiE & -
Interest expense FMERAX = 10,611
Interest paid classified as operating NEAKERESRENE
cash flows (NEAIPSN = (10,611)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE—=
and 1 January 2024 +-A=+—H8X
—E-mm&E—H/F—H - 227,079
Changes from financing cash flows B & IR & = (583,883)
New leases oHE — 41,484
Revision of lease terms arising from IR € Eisk-g-
changes in the non-cancellable B2 mEHEER
periods of leases EITEE] - (5,021)
Foreign exchange movement [ & & F) =
Interest expense MERX = 10,230
Interest paid classified as operating DEAKERESREN
cash flows RN - (10,230)
At 31 December 2024 R-_T N4
+=-A=+—H — 209,917

1972 1ANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED & (R ) 12 IR A S
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 27. ZERERERM T &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

HEHSRHER

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c)

RenEBXRANEAERSREA

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows: BIOH
2024 2023
—ENF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR T T
Within operating activities KETEEN 59,731 68,350
Within financing activities BMEZBNR 53,883 47,849
113,614 116,199

28. COMMITMENTS 28. A&

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end

of the reporting period:

AEBRBEHRE AT EARARE :

2024 2023
—EC_OE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®T T
Contracted, but not provided for: EEEEEE ST
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 529 3,051
Commitments to contribute funds arising SEREERAIHRE
from the Group's interest in a joint WETEE A B &
venture - 2,880
529 5,931
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BHMARXS

- (@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (@ EAHRE R BREE M
Lé, these financial statements, the Group had the following B PTIR 32 550 - 7R 5 E B g Bt 7
material transactions with related parties during the ETTTINEARRS :
year:
2024 2023
—E-MmE T -=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=3 AR¥ T AR®T T
Rental payments to a related X F—RE@EER
company A& ] 364 1,092
Rental payments to a related X F—ME@EER
company AlzHE (ii) 1,748 2,628
Rental payments to a related 3z~ F — & BA Bt 5
party Z e (iii) 2,854 2,880
Notes: Wit -

REBEREERERBEERD
A(IR=HE ] RAEEER
ZHREREOHES WRBEER
R ARAEERERES
£ REERHEETARS
HENEERMRE -

(i) The rental payments were charged by Dongguan Well (i)
Ltd.
(“Dongguan Well Excellent”) at rates agreed between

Excellent Hotel Management Services Co.,

the Group and Dongguan Well Excellent. Mr. Yip, Mr.
Chan and Mr. Ku, directors and shareholders of the
Company, are also the directors and shareholders of
Dongguan Well Excellent.

AR R ERAEE
% Y & 2 A R #728,0007T
—E=F )

=

During the year, Dongguan Well Excellent has waived
rental payment of RMB728,000 for the Group (2023:
Nil).

194 1ANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED % (R ) 2R MRA S



29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) The rental payments were charged by Meco Group
Company Limited (“Meco Group”) at rates agreed
between the Group and Meco Group. Mr. Yip, Mr.
Chan and Mr. Ku, directors and shareholders of the
Company, are also the directors and shareholders of
Meco Group.

During the year, Meco Group has waived a rental
payment of RMB880,000 (2023: RMB360,000) for the
Group.

(i) The rental payments were charged by Mr. Yip and Mr.
Yip Ka Fai (the “Related Landlord”) at rates agreed
between the Group and the Related Landlord. Mr. Yip
is a director and shareholder of the Company, and Mr.
Yip Ka Fai is the son of Mr. Yip and thus both of them
are related persons of the Company.

During the year, the Related Landlord has not waived
any rental for the Group (2023: Nil).

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with joint
ventures and related companies as at the end of the
reporting period are included in notes 16 and 22 to
the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Details of directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments and the five highest paid employees are
included in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements,
respectively.

The related party transactions in respect of items (i), (i) and

(i)

above also constitute connected transactions or

continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

30. REHE D Z2EMTA

RBEHR SEEHNNERTAN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BREERT :
follows:
Financial assets EHMEE
2024 —E-mE
Financial asset Financial
Financial at fair value asset at
assets at  through other fair value
amortised comprehensive through
cost income profit or loss Total
REBERAEA ROFESA BDYE
FIERH HiZEWZEMN FABREH
cREE cREE cREE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET R ARETRE AR¥TRx AR¥Tx
Financial asset at fair value BAFEFAEA
through other comprehensive % [ I 25 &Y
income THEE = 21,833 = 21,833
Financial asset at fair value BAFEGA
through profit or loss BEENoREE = — 19,274 19,274
Trade receivables (note 19) 2 5 WA
(Kiit19) 9,417 - - 9,417
Deposits and other receivables &4 K H i fE W
(note 19) I (K iE19) 21,497 - - 21,497
Due from joint ventures U A & A 1,187 — — 1,187
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEE 328,281 - - 328,281
360,382 21,833 19,274 401,489

PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED /&= (s E) #ZERER D E
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. BEHE D Z2EMI A

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued) EREE &)
2023 —EC-=H
Financial asset Financial
Financial at fair value asset at
assets at through other fair value
amortised ~ comprehensive through
cost income  profit or loss Total

REBHERA  BIFEFA BRYE

PIERE) HttREKEN FFABRSN
SRMEE cREE cREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT AREBTT AR®TR

Financial asset at fair value BAFEFAEA
through other comprehensive % [ I 25 &Y

income TRHEE = 24,274 = 24,274

Financial asset at fair value BAFEGA
through profit or loss BEENoREE = = 26,209 26,209

Trade receivables (note 19) 2 5 WA
(Ht7t19) 18,270 — — 13,270

Deposits and other receivables &% & H fth B U

(note 19) I (K iE19) 42,749 = = 42,749
Due from joint ventures e & & R A 1,649 = = 1,649
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEE 321,374 - - 321,374
379,042 24,274 26,209 429,525
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(Continued)

1

- Financial liabilities

EMER

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. REFE DM T A

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

REBHEAAIRzeMEBE
2024 2023
—E-lmEF —EZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AR®T T
Trade payables (note 21) B 5 SR (K 721) 44,761 52,255

Other payables and accruals (note 21) B e RIE R

FE ST F A (K1 3t21) 15,339 17,250
Due to related companies FESREE R R RIA 118 658
Lease liabilities HEaE 209,917 227,079
270,135 295,926

198 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED & (R ) 12 IR A S



31.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, pledged time deposits,
trade receivables, trade payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings, deposits and other receivables, other payables
and accruals and balances with related companies and joint
ventures approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of deposits have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income has been
estimated using an asset-based approach based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable inputs.
The significant unobservable input is the fair values of the
underlying assets of the unlisted equity investment. The
increase/decrease in this significant unobservable input
would increase/decrease in fair value of the unlisted equity
investment.

The fair value of the financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss is estimated by an independent valuer by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The significant unobservable
input is the discount rate. The increase/decrease in this
significant unobservable input would decrease/increase in
fair value of the financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.

31.
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31.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The directors believe that the estimated fair values based on
the above valuation techniques, which are recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and
that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

3. TMTENAFERLIFER

P
A (4&)

EEMAGE ALAGBERTAEEDN
B2 FEGIABRREMEE K
NERE YA/BERRKAENE

8-

AFEER
TRIRAEBEERIAZAFER
EEA:

BAVEAEBZEE:

R-ZEBE-_NME+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

DEEFERAUTEE
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
&R BEXATEE EAXFIEE
W5 ZH/E WABE BAHE
(B—%&) (B=&) (B=&) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Financial asset at fair &2 F{EF A
value through other H A2 E W
comprehensive NeREE
income = = 21,833 21,833
Financial asset at fair &2 F{E&t
value through AEz=EH
profit or loss TREE - - 19,274 19,274

20)() TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED % (s ) 12 IR A S



31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
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OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) ;#)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AXFEERE)

As at 31 December 2023

3. ERMIENAFYERATFEE

RZEBEZ=F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATEFERANTEE

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
N BERABE BERPAEHE
M52 RE AR AR
(B—®) (F=-H) (F=#)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARBTT ARBTT

Total

st
RMB’000
ARBTT

Financial asset at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income

Financial asset at fair
value through
profit or loss

BAFERTA
H th 2 H
HNemEE
- - 24,274
BAFER
AB =
CREE = = 26,209

24,274

26,209

NS
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 31.
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3

during the year are as follows:

- 8C )

AFEEERE)

TRITANAFERATVEE

FAF=ZRAFEAELHNOT :

2024 2023
—E-lmEF ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%¥ T AR®T T
Equity investment at fair value through & A F(Ez A E b4 & Uk 2
other comprehensive income MRAKE — FELm:
— unlisted:
At 1 January w—A—H 24,274 22,678
Total (loss)/gain recognised in other FFAEMEEEER
comprehensive income (B18) M (2,441) 1,596
At 31 December RtT—-_A=+—H 21,833 24,274
2024 2023
—E-lmEF —ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR¥F T
Debt investment at fair value through BAFEFABZNER
profit or loss — unlisted: KE — L
At 1 January n—H—H 26,209 26,664
Total (loss)/gain recognised in the SFABEM(EE) kS
statement of profit or loss (5,517) 2,065
Settlements wE (2,116) (2,808)
Exchange realignment M 5, 38 & 698 288
At 31 December R+—_HA=+—H 19,274 26,209




31.

32.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and bank balances, short-term deposits and interest-bearing
bank borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
balances with related companies, trade payables and other
payables and lease liabilities, which arise directly from the
Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

31.

32.
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32.

204 e

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. It is
the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until a
firm commitment is in place.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Hong Kong dollar exchange rate, with all other variables

. EREREEEBEREE

[UH

85 L B

AEBAEARERFELRR - BEEE
LABA 2 NEEEMININ BT
BEER AeEsAtSRAR AEEZ
BRA BREEERS GBI UEHRE
% o

TEITEMELMERRETE
ERT RBEMRETERA B
%QE£F$EIZHHMmﬁMm

held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to EREERABECAFTEEY) LA
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) % B o Em BRE -
and the Group’s equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease) in
exchange rate before tax equity*
Ih B = R B4 AT & R M
EH(F®) % CE2) (R 2)*
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T
2024 —E-mE
If Renminbi weakens against fis A R 5B TR E
HK$ 5 2,452 =
If Renminbi strengthens against i A R # 5,78 T FH&
HK$ (5) (2,452) -
2023 —EZ=fF
If Renminbi weakens against i AR H B TR E
HK$ 5 2,582 —
If Renminbi strengthens against i A R # 5,78 T FH&
HK$ (5) (2,582) —

Excluding retained profits

PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED /&= (s E) #ZERER D E
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuead)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
closely monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the
Group’s exposure to bad debts.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts

Notes to the Financial Statements
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32 SRMEREEEERKE @

= & E

AEBRERBLBEEZEF=ZTXR
5 REBZBEE  RAGEHERR
SGZEFPABBEERIZRF It
S REBEGREZ LR ERE
B REREAEEZERAR

R 5 B R R AR R

TRBERNZZE-ZNFR_T_=F
+:HE+—E!EI’METJ§$$@%EBZ
R(EEERBERHER - BRIEEM
EREEFTNEHBEZKRALE I TE
AEFS)MNEEERREaEERRBI
MEKRBBRYE -2V cEASR

BENKR@MAE-

for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZEBE-_NME+=-A=+—H

12-month

ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f@A

B
FEBSE 2HAMFEERR

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total

E-K& E-BER - SRl @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR ARMTR AR¥TR

Trade receivables” 2 5 MW B = - - 9,417 9,417
Deposits and other receivables R R E f R

— Normal** — EE* 21,497 - - - 21,497
Due from joint ventures™ Uk & & R A R 1,187 - 2,688 - 3,875
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEED

— Not yet past due - R#H 328,281 = = = 328,281

350,965 - 2,688 9,417 363,070
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . CREAREEEEREE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuead)
Credit risk (Continued) EEREEE)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) = E B B R F ARG R ()
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=f@A
8 5
FEEE 2HEHEERRE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
—RER FEEER F-RER Sk @:pzS Feh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR ARETn AR®TT AR%®Tx
Trade receivables* 2 5 ek zE = = = 13,270 13,270
Deposits and other receivables R R E R
— Normal** — Fg~ 42,749 = = — 42,749
Due from joint ventures™ Bk & & R A R 1,649 = 1,961 = 3,610
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBEEED
— Not yet past due — K@ 321,374 = = = 321,374
365,772 - 1,961 13,270 381,003
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * AR AEERBEETERENE

approach for impairment, information is disclosed in note 19

to the financial statements.

> The credit quality of deposits and other receivables and due

from joint ventures are considered to be “norma

when they

are not past due and there is no information indicating that

the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

2()6  TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &S (+ER) 2R AR AR

>k

SEBHE - AR EENRHBEN
B19 -

7o B E A R IR R U A & A
ARENEEEERN AP RES
*#EEEHQ%MA REZEREEN
EERBRBEZNE  #EKIE
%J°EE'J*$@§EE’M§AE§%&
AR 5] o



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
loans and overdrafts and lease liabilities. The Group’s policy
is to maintain the Group at a net current asset position.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

Notes to the Financial Statements
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& & b

AEBRABERALEUERBDESE
TAERESHROREAR -ZTAZE
BEPFEMTARSREE(MES
FEWRIE) 2 BB R AR R B 2 X
ZTERARERE -

AEEZBEERBBERARITERR
BEXRHEAE AFKESFENESR
Bt cEz PG AEEZHRE
MEBAKREENRBEEFR MM

RBEHR  AEESRAEENDH
HAETERNTHEHORITERE

undiscounted payments, is as follows: 5T
2024
—E-mE
On Less than 1 to Over
demand 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
RERMEE 12ANLT 185F 5F L E et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TRT AR®TT AR®TR AR¥TR

Trade payables E 5 e 5IE - 44,761 - - 44,761
Other payables and accruals E fh FE A 5RIE &

FE 5T R IA - 15,339 - - 15,339

Due to related companies FE S B &E A R 5RIE 118 - - - 118

Lease liabilities HEAE - 56,667 145,627 40,391 242,685

118 116,767 145,627 40,391 302,903
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. tREREEEERKE#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuead)
@, Liquidity risk (Continued) RBHELEAMEE)
2023
—E-=F
On Less than 1 to QOver
demand 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
REFREE 12@AUT 1E5F 5 A+ 45t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TE ARBTRI ARBTT AR®TR

Trade payables E 5 e 5IE = 52,255 = = 52,255
Other payables and accruals E fh FE A FRIE &
FEST A - 17,250 - - 17,250
Due to related companies R &R RIRIE 658 = = = 658
Lease liabilities HEAE = 66,346 163,817 35,953 266,116
658 135,851 163,817 35,923 336,279
Capital management BEXAEHE
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management AEEBEAREENFTEZEEEERRE
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going AEBHRENFELCE TWHFER
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to MERLELEUTRFHEERMESIR
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. FAREEE -

2()8  TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED ' (sh ) 121 RA S



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuead)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued capital and reserves as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and risk associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance the overall capital structure of the Group
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well
as the raising of new bank loans.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
calculated as bank borrowings divided by total equity. The
gearing ratio as at the end of the reporting period was 0%
(2023: 0%).
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THE COMPANY

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33.

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Z< 7 B 49 B 3 AR R

BRARBAREEHRNFHMMNK
BEREIMT

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R E R AR E 7,097 7,097
Due from subsidiaries JFE W Bf B8 2 B) SR IB 83,548 74,822
Total non-current assets IEMBEERTE 90,645 81,919
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H th fE W SR IE R TR SRIE 176 171
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReFE 370 204
546 375
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables H e~ 3R IE 412 375
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFEE 134 =
Net assets EEFE 90,779 81,919
EQUITY EE
Issued capital BBITRA 45,821 45,821
Reserves (ke 44,958 36,098
Total equity 4B HE A 90,779 81,919




THE COMPANY (Continued)

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Notes to the Financial Statements

S 5 2 W wk

31 December 2024
RZZEZMNFE+=A=+—H

33. KT WETHEAR R (&)

Note: B it
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AAREBHEZBENT
Share Exchange
premium Other fluctuation Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
BB EE Hitfe EXRDRE REEF @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=#—H—-H 17,801 - (923) 32,255 49,133
Profit for the year FREF = = = 34,565 34,565
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation BERNEB ELER
of foreign operations - - 822 - 822
Total comprehensive income FREARGEE
for the year: - - 822 34,565 34,387
Final 2022 dividend “E-CERHRE - - = (24,211) (24.211)
Interim 2023 special dividend “EZZFPHERRE = = = (24,211) (24,211)
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=%F
1 January 2024 +-A=+—-8Hk
RZE-mFE—A—H 17,801 = (101) 18,398 36,098
Profit for the year FREF = = - 21,037 21,037
Other comprehensive income FREMPENRE
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation BEBNEBCERZR
of foreign operations = = 2,603 = 2,603
Total comprehensive income FRATAREEE:
for the year: - - 2,603 21,037 23,640
Shares repurchased [ 17 B B = (1,842) = = (1,842)
Award of repurchased shares under  IBIEIR 3 BBt &R H
Share Award Scheme EAEn) - 1,842 - - 1,842
Final 2023 dividend “E-CERERE - - - (14,780) (14,780)
At 31 December 2024 el 3
+-A=+-8 17,801 - 2,502 24,655 44,958

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

34. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.

34. #HAEMBRE

AMBHRREEESFEN _T_AF
ZSAZHRBHE R RETE -
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Summary Financial Information

W& PR

e

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- REBRBORETREENEEME - U

controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, NEE BERFEERERD DR EN
as extracted from the published audited financial statements is set HBENEEZTBHRE -
@= out below.
RESULTS E 35
Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=1+—-HLEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EBE-NE —_T-_=F Z—T_— —E-—F Z—ZET-TEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRE AR®TT ARETRT AR®Tr ARETR
Revenue g 1,021,063 1,122,911 941,964 1,361,296 1,105,103
Other income H e A 23,298 33,167 34,707 38,459 41,044
Cost of inventories consumed T 17 & K & (346,640) (378,692) (368,472) (514,467) (422,638)
Staff costs BIKAR (422,729) (437,306) (418,053) (448,055) (364,582)
Depreciation of items of mE - BE X
property, plant and HEBEWE
equipment (29,574) (33,862) (44,989) (45,488) (48,267)
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets (52,491) (52,231) (66,427) (83,169) (92,718)
Utilities and consumables N HER e X
KB (52,575) (57,741) (64,809) (76,401) (66,641)
Rental and related expenses  # & & fH R85 X (31,250) (33,412) (18,491) (26,535) (12,752)
Other expenses Hipx (103,721) (104,299 (126,710) (122,211) (93,362)
Finance costs BE KA (10,230) (10,774) (13,906) (18,621) (24,437)
Changes in fair value of BATEFABRE
a financial asset at fair value MEMEED
through profit or loss NEEEZE) (5,517) 2,065 (3,658) 2,973 =
Share of losses of RN
joint ventures BB (1,137) (3,572) (2,417) (196) (2,229)
(Loss)/profit before tax BAT(&8)
ikl (11,503) 48,254 (151,261) 67,585 18,527
Income tax expense FTi5 Fi B X (7,401) (5,990) (1,056) (27,562) (15,369)
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BB
St 7l (18,904) 42,264 (152,317) 40,023 3,158
Attributable to: FER
Owners of the Company /N7 ZE DN (18,924) 41,692 (150,934) 40,570 4,379
Non-controlling interests TR 20 572 (1,383) (547) (1,221)
(18,904) 42,264 (152,317) 40,023 3,158

212 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED & (s ) 2R A S



ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

Summary Financial Information

St 85 R

EE -BENRFERER

INTERESTS

As at 31 December

R+=B=+-—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-_WE —ET-=F =—T-— B Z—ZE-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
Total assets EERE 760,428 805,737 753,105 1,034,005 1,064,495
Total liabilities BERE (555,216) (564,786) (507,368) (617,082) (645,617)
Non-controlling interests FEE RS 473 (1,367) (795) 2,178) (2,725)
205,685 239,584 244,942 414,745 416,153
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Glossary
2 2
=

Abbreviation Definition

3 78 Bx

AGM annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 6 June 2025
RRBFKE AARIBR ZE_AFAAARNBRITZRREBEFAE

Articles of Association

HEEREAR

Audit Committee

BEZEEE
Board
EE

CCT Tenancy Agreements

CCTHE %

Chiu Kwun

ks

Company

ZANYNE]

Controlling Shareholders

Corporate Governance Code

®ERERSTA

articles of association of the Company adopted on 25 March 2011 and as
amended from time to time

ARBAR-_B——F=ZA-+THABRBRETFEI 2ABZIZMA

audit committee of the Company established on 25 March 2011 with written
terms of reference (as amended and supplemented)
RARRZE——F=ZA-ZTHBRYZERLZES HXEEEBEHE
(BT R F 72)

board of directors of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited

EE(REERERARESSE

tenancy agreements entered into between the Group as lessee and Meco
Group or Dongguan Well Excellent (as the case may be) as landlord
AEBERABAN EESEEARELE(RFBEAME)WEREE)FTL
CORIER= R

Chiu Kwun Engineering (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., a company established in the PRC
with limited liability on 4 April 1990 and indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. KU Hok
Chiu, being one of the executive directors and substantial shareholders
BEFABHEHMACRINDERAR  E—WNTFONANBETBEXRIZEAE
BAF AERATEERIERRZ L EBREREL2ERR

Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited
EE(PBE)ERBERAR

Mr. CHAN Man Wai, Mr. YIP Shu Ming, Mr. KU Hok Chiu, Best Active
Investments Limited, Current Success Investments Limited and Bright Mind
Investments Limited collectively known as the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company

PRER A - ERIRALEAE - HEBH%E A Best Active Investments Limited -
Current Success Investments Limited & Bright Mind Investments Limited © #: 7

R R REBRBR

Corporate governance code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ER R ERCIAT &L 2 & E B R 5T Al

2 14 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) R BER L



Glossary
) 5

Abbreviation

Definition

Bx

Dongguan Well Excellent

bl
[

BRFERIAE®

HK Well Excellent

Listing Date

Listing Rules

Meco Group

Ji]

it

Model Code

4

-|I

Nomination Committee

i3S

Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference

TEARBGAHE S

Dongguan Well Excellent Hotel Management Services Co., Ltd., a company
established in the PRC with limited liability on 27 October 2006 and wholly
owned by HK Well Excellent

RREREEERBERAR  —XRR_BZEXNFTA-+EEERBEX
YWERAF BEEREZEHEAR

extraordinary general meeting

BRFERIAE®

Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited, together with its subsidiaries
EFE(REDIERARRQ A REKE QA

Well Excellent Development Limited, an investment holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and owned as to 50% by Mr.
CHAN Man Wai, 35% by Mr. YIP Shu Ming, 15% by Mr. KU Hok Chiu
MEZRARAF —KREBAMAINERKREZERAE - ARXESL
- ERBRAEERETEBEEDFITEA0% - 35%K%15%

date on which the trading of the Company’s securities commenced, i.e. 19
April 2011
RARFESFHABEECAS =T ——FMWA+NA

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B 22 P8 % £ T AR Bl

Meco Group Company Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on 14 July 1992 and owned as to 50% by Mr. CHAN Man Wai,
35% by Mr. YIP Shu Ming and 15% by Mr. KU Hok Chiu

EREEHARAR " RR - ANZFEtATHBERAEZMKINERA
AC-HERXELEE EBRAEERETBBEEDBIHEF0% - 35%K%15%

Model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
ETRAIK SRCIFTE L ETAEZESETELRRH 2IZETE

nomination committee of the Company established on 25 March 2011 with
written terms of reference

ARBAR-_B——F=ZA-_+HABRIZEREZER

mE>

HEEEEBELE

¥ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 2 1 5
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Glossary
T

Abbreviation

fE

Definition

Bx

Non-compete undertaking

T FEH

PRC

E

Prospectus
BRRERE

Remuneration Committee
T8 g

SFO

& 7 N BB (5B

Share(s)

P 1

Share Award Scheme

Bt R B =t &

Stock Exchange
Bt 22 PfT

an irrevocable non-compete undertaking in favour of the Group pursuant to
which each of the Controlling Shareholders will not directly or indirectly, carry
on, invest in or be engaged in any business which would or may compete with
the business of the Group

MAKEEL 2 AL AR F AR Bt SERBREE TS EESEEE
T REINREFEMEREEEERFXAERFIED

People’s Republic of China
RE AR KEFE

the Company’s prospectus dated 7 April 2011 for the initial public offering
RAARHBA_ST ——FHAtLtHZEBERA AREERRER

remuneration committee of the Company established on 25 March 2011 with
written terms of reference

ARBAR-_F——F=ZA-T+ABRIZFMNEZE S ERAEERERE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FREPIFESNEEZ RPE R EAEER - MR AR A B2

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company (or of
such other nominal amount as shall result from a sub-division, consolidation,
reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital of the Company from time
to time)
ARABRAPZREESELEBR(AARAAKEASF &6 EFH
BREARAMEELE 2% S EMEE)

share award scheme adopted by the Company on 1 April 2021
RAARIRZZEZ—FMA—BERM 2D ZEE 2

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EREBMERSMARRAA

2 1 6 TANG PALACE (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED &= (HEl) R BER L
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